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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  
Welcome to the informational hearing on “Lyme Disease:  Issues in Diagnosis and Reporting.”  I want to encourage my colleagues who had expressed an interest in this informational hearing to join us.


I know that we have a fairly lengthy agenda today, and hopefully, my staff has been very clear on the importance of allowing all of the speakers and all of the witnesses to be able to provide really important testimony on this, I think, very important issue.  And I want to encourage the speakers to try to keep to the time constraints that my staff have outlined.  That way, we will have time for questions and comments by my colleagues.


I’m not going to delay much longer.  I’m going to go ahead and open with my statement and hope that my colleagues join me in that period of time.


I’d like to begin this informational hearing on “Lyme Disease:  Issues and Diagnosis and Reporting” by thanking those members who are planning to join us today and particularly the many distinguished panelists who have joined us.  I know many of you have traveled from afar through very difficult weather.  


Let me just remind those who are not familiar with the process that our sergeants are authorized to gather up cell phones that go off during the committee hearing, so I’d encourage you to either put them on silent or if you have conversations, that you do those outside of the committee hearing room.  We try to keep the comments to a minimum because we can hear everything here.


As legislators we face a number of issues across the policy area of Health and Human Services, and at times of very serious, critical decision-making, we find that more in-depth understanding of our needs and issues sometimes allude us.  We are often called to make very important decisions in a very short period of time without a lot of valuable information.  Our hope is, here today, to utilize this forum as dedicating a couple of hours to Lyme disease and the pressing issues related to what we seem to believe is a serious and debilitating disease.


Our panel of speakers today is diverse.  We have a lot of patients, scientists, physicians, and advocates.  I understand, and I’m pleased to announce, that award-winning author Amy Tan is here as well.  Her contributions to American writing are extraordinary, but she’s here to discuss Lyme disease in her recent book, The Opposite of Fate.  I know that her contributions in this area of her life are tremendous, and we certainly look forward to hearing from Ms. Tan.


The focus of the hearing is on diagnosis and reporting issues, and I would like to say a few words on why these issues are critical for the disease and others like it.  


The general public sense is that the incidence of Lyme disease is low, despite the fact that strong advocacy voices contest the official account of the number of Lyme disease cases in California.  In areas of the United States and in the world where Lyme disease is prevalent, physicians and clinicians are more aware and are more familiar with the physical symptoms at all stages of the disease.  In these areas, publicly recorded incidence rates are higher which drives that cycle of awareness and public education and physician readiness for the disease.  In California, incidence rates have been thought to be relatively low which can contribute to its own kind of cycle where there is lessened awareness and response to the disease.  


Many of our speakers will likely debate, and I encourage you to do so in a respectful manner, and I encourage you to respect the difference of opinions.  Our hope is to sort through this information and come up with some policy directives.  I know that we’re going to hear today about the complexities, the diagnosis, and the reporting.  Partly due to the nature of the disease and the way it manifests itself through its symptoms that can be disguised—if of low severity as non-Lyme related, which, of course, then leads to delayed diagnosis, which then leads to delayed treatment, which then leads, often, to years of not being able to manage the disease—it’s fairly debilitating.


So, I look forward to these presentations.  I expect to learn a lot.  I would like to remind the speakers that they have a ten-minute maximum length of time, and I ask that they be mindful of this throughout the hearing so that we can move through all of the agenda in the time allotted.  As my colleagues join us, I may allow them an opportunity to make some opening comments.  Usually, they simply come in and learn, and many of them are watching from their offices.


I don’t know if we’re going to invite all the panelists forward at the same time.  There are four on the first panel.  Panels I and II, we have four witnesses or four speakers in those.  Let me ask them all to come forward:  Dr. Mark Starr from the Department of Health Services—if you would please come forward.  The other three witnesses that are actually on Panel II, I would ask you to come forward and join us here in the committee speaker area, and that would be Chris Parlier—and please, as you begin your presentations, introduce yourselves again for the record—as well as Ms. Tan and Charise Ott.


I would welcome again Dr. Starr and allow you to open up the hearing.


DR. MARK STARR:  Well, thank you very much.  Good afternoon, Madam Chair—and to the other committee members should they arrive.  I am Dr. Mark Starr, acting chief of the Division of Communicable Disease Control with the California Department of Health Services.  I want to thank you for inviting me to testify regarding the current scientific information on diagnosis and reporting of Lyme disease.  


I’m going to give brief introductory comments on the disease itself, diagnosis and treatment, and leave those details related to the other panel members that are more expert than I.  From a public health perspective, I’m going to focus primarily on our activities in the areas of surveillance and reporting as well as some of our prevention efforts for Lyme disease.


Lyme disease is caused by a bacterial organism, as many of you know, called Borrelia burgdorferi.  In California, it’s transmitted by the Western black-legged tick.  Lyme disease was first described in 1977 as a cluster of arthritis among children in Lyme, Connecticut; hence, the name.


The Centers for Disease Control (or CDC) began tracking Lyme disease in 1982, and it became a nationally notifiable disease in 1990.  Over 150,000 cases have since been reported nationwide, making Lyme disease the most frequently reported vector-borne disease in the nation.  The first human case recognized in California was from Sonoma County in 1978, and reporting for Lyme disease began in California in 1989.  As of 2002, over 2,000 cases have been reported in California.


Early symptoms of Lyme disease occur three to thirty days after the bite of the tick; and again, you’ll hear a lot more about this, I’m sure, from other speakers.  Early symptoms include classic erythema migrans (or EM) rash—which is a red, blotchy, expanding rash, often with central clearing—and many other symptoms:  fever, headache, muscle aches, joint pain, and neurologic and other illnesses as well.


The EM rash is not always present, or it may go undetected if it occurs in a difficult location to see it, such as the scalp or if an individual has dark skin.  Weeks to months later the bacteria can spread in the body and may result in more systemic problems such as heart and neurologic abnormalities, numbness and pain in the arms and legs, and other manifestations.  If left untreated or improperly treated, Lyme disease can occur weeks, months, or years after infection.  Chronic arthritis manifested as recurrent swelling in joints is the most common feature of late Lyme disease, but neurologic changes, such as memory loss and confusion, can also occur.


Diagnosis of the disease is based primarily on a patient having symptoms typical of the disease as well as a compatible history of being in an environment where ticks with Lyme disease are found.  Laboratory tests also provide supplementary information of an individual having Lyme disease—important information to confirm in diagnosis.  The CDC, the FDA, and others recommend that lab testing should be done in a two-step process using an initial screening test followed by a more specific test called a Western blot for Lyme disease antibodies.  When used for patients for whom the clinical symptoms and history strongly suggest Lyme disease, this two-step procedure is highly reliable at differentiating Lyme disease from other possible causes.  Nevertheless, we all know that false-positive and false-negative tests can occur, depending on the course of the illness and the stage of the disease.  Either way, erroneous laboratory results can lead to delays in proper diagnosis and treatment; and you’ll hear more later, again, about the complexities and challenges of diagnosis.  


Guidelines for the treatment of Lyme disease have been developed nationally, and I think I’ll leave that to the other panelists to discuss—both the early and late recommendations for treatment—but there’s national guidelines for treatment.


So, with that brief overview of symptoms, the disease itself, diagnosis, and treatment, I’ll go on to talk a little bit about public health activities, beginning with surveillance.


Disease surveillance is a core government function that provides the basis for public health officials to investigate, intervene, and target resources in order to control diseases and prevent them and protect our population.  This information provides us the “who, what, when, where, and how bad?” for various diseases occurring in our population as a whole, and it’s critical information for us to do our public health response.


The California Code of Regulations specifies the requirements for reporting, which is one tool of surveillance.  There’s over 80 diseases that must be reported by a healthcare provider when they suspect or recognize them and about 25 diseases that have to be reported by laboratories.  These are reported to local health departments who then evaluate and investigate the reports as needed and submit them to the department.  


And in the packet that was provided, there is a form that’s used called the “Confidential Morbidity Report” as an information piece of how providers report in, and on the back of it is the list of all the reportable diseases, including Lyme disease.  After we get this information, we analyze for trends.  We investigate outbreaks.  We look for unusual diseases.  We do summaries and recommendations and various reports.  And again in your packet, there’s a summary of Lyme disease over the last ten years by county, and we have provisional data for 2003 we just put on there for the benefit of this hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Starr, is that the green packet?  Members, it’s the last document on the right side of the folder that shows Lyme disease cases by county.


DR. STARR:  Right.  And on the back side of it is a map that shows the hotspots recognized in California, primarily the north coast and the western slope of the Sierras, but you can see that—this and, as well, a brochure I’ll show later—that Lyme disease exists in most of the counties of California.  And of course, much more information is on our website.  


All the reporting for all diseases is based on the national surveillance case definitions, and these are established by the CDC and the Council for State and Territorial Epidemiologists.  The surveillance case definitions are created for the purpose of standardization and not patient care.  They exist so that public health officials can reasonably monitor trends over time and evaluate regional differences.  Surveillance case definitions are not intended to substitute for clinical judgment.  Clinical diagnosis and treatment are, of course, the domain of the medical profession.  Whereas physicians appropriately lean towards overdiagnosis, thereby assuring they do not miss a case, surveillance case definitions appropriately lean toward specificity, thereby assuring they do not inadvertently include illnesses due to other conditions.


For Lyme disease, the national surveillance case definition is either the erythema migrans rash, that I mentioned earlier—it’s diagnosed by a physician—or at least one objective manifestation of late Lyme disease along with laboratory confirmation using the two-step blood test.


Several steps have to occur before a case of Lyme disease is captured in the surveillance system, ranging from the patient has to recognize the illness and must seek care; the physician must overcome the challenges of diagnosis and suspect the case and report that to the local health department; and public health officials have to evaluate the case.  Our department attempts to encourage all of these steps through an education program targeting both the public and physicians.


In my last few minutes I’d like to describe some of our other activities, especially for Lyme disease prevention.  The Department of Health Services has a tick-borne diseases program that focuses on surveillance, prevention, and education of healthcare providers and the public.  In addition to the human case surveillance that I just mentioned, our biologists routinely survey for ticks in many areas of California, often in collaboration with local vector control agencies.  Warning signs are posted in areas where large numbers of ticks are found.  A sample of one of those I brought here to pass around in both English and Spanish.  It’s a new one that we’ve produced.  The Western black-legged ticks are tested throughout California, and I’ll present some information on that in a moment.  That’s been done since 1989.  Our staff give presentations on tick-borne disease ecology and prevention to the public, other agencies, and physicians.  We also conduct independent studies with researchers on ecology, epidemiology, and control of tick-borne diseases.


As part of our ongoing education program, many projects have been conducted to improve Lyme disease education, targeting both the public and the medical community.  I have just a few specific examples just to wrap up here today.  


This is a new brochure that we’ve produced in conjunction with the Lyme Disease Advisory Committee (who you’ll hear from in a moment), and this has considerably more details on aspects of the disease, its transmission, how to avoid ticks, and prevention of the disease than I have time to go in here.  So, I highly recommend this, and all the members have a copy of this.  Our website is on the brochure as well and it’s available there.


The tick warning sign I just showed you, and we also do press announcements twice a year to coincide with both adult tick activity, which is in the colder times of year—and many people who aren’t aware of that need to be aware of ticks at this time of year—as well as the nymph activity.


We have two epidemiologic updates that we published in the Medical Board’s newsletter in 2001 and 2002.  It goes to all licensed physicians.  And we’ve conducted a physician education survey through that mechanism as well, and the results will be published there this month.  This will improve our physician education program.  Of course, much more information is available at our website, which, again, is on the brochure and the disease table.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to interrupt you for a moment.  Do people in the back of the committee—are you able to hear Dr. Starr’s testimony?  Good.  It just seemed a little bit low here, but please continue.


DR. STARR:  Thank you.  I sometimes slip away from the microphone.


The last comment I wanted to make is about the Lyme Disease Advisory Committee, which you’ll hear more about from the next speaker.  It was established by Senate Bill 1115 in 1999.  This committee is to advise the department on its Lyme Disease Education Program.  The committee’s made up of members from the Lyme Disease Resource Center, from many Lyme disease support groups, physicians, academia, local health jurisdictions, and, of course, our department.  A broad range of views are represented on this committee, allowing for important exchanges of ideas on Lyme disease education and some important products.  And I mentioned this brochure.  It’s a product of that committee as well as our department.


So, in summary, California’s residents and visitors will increasingly contact Borrelia burgdorferi infected ticks as communities expand into areas where there was once only wildlife.  Recreational activities in natural areas will similarly increase, placing people in contact with ticks.  Therefore, both physicians and the public need to be aware of the risks of Lyme and other tick-borne diseases and how to address them.


Thank you for the opportunity to present to the committee on Lyme disease diagnosis and reporting in California.  I’m available either now or later for any questions that the committee may have.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Obviously, you’re familiar with the process, and I’m sure there are going to be questions by either panelists or speakers coming forward.  So, if you wouldn’t mind staying here and allowing us, the members, or the public the opportunity to ask questions, I’d appreciate that.


So, thank you.


I have a couple of questions.  Senator Escutia, I’m not sure whether you do?


Let me just quickly get through a couple of questions for you, Dr. Starr.


How difficult is it for the department to verify a reported incident?  I know you addressed that in your presentation, but if you could highlight that and give some of the elements that really hamper, as some would say, an accurate count of the number of cases in California.  I don’t want you to make a judgment call, but how difficult is it for the department to, in fact, verify that someone has been exposed or has contracted Lyme disease?


DR. STARR:  Well, we depend, of course, as our first line of surveillance or reporting, on the practicing physician, and their clinical acumen and diagnosis will generate the report; and then, public health officials will evaluate that, and I think that’s what the heart of your question is:  how do we evaluate?  We do this in conjunction with the national standards that I mentioned for case definition.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And is that one test that’s a diagnostic test accepted, or are there a range of tests?


DR. STARR:  There are several.  The primary screening test is the ELISA test, if you’re familiar with that.  An IFA test can also be used.  There are several different ELISA tests out there, and I think we’ll probably hear later about some of the challenges with various lab tests that are available. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Those are the two primary tests?


DR. STARR:  Those are the two screening, and then the follow-up test is a Western blot test, and that’s the two-step screening and then the follow-up that’s recommended.


The challenges we face are. . . . basically, when we (quote/unquote) “count” a case, we’re not making a determination whether that individual has the disease or not.  We’re just determining whether it meets the same criteria that are used in Massachusetts, that were used in California two years ago, so we can compare apples to apples over time and between regions.  We recognize that not every case gets reported, as much as we try to educate providers, and because not all the information is always available, we’re not going to be able to (quote/unquote) “count” every case.  But we do have all the reports in, and what we do count officially is what we are able to compare over time and between states.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll hear from other witnesses, but I just want to get to this early on from the Department of Health Services’ position.  Is it possible that any of these tests will have a false negative simply because the stage of one’s exposure to the tick and the disease is the cyclic stage?  I mean, if you’re not at a critical point of either exposure and/or development of the. . . . I’m not sure what you would characterize the stages that a test would be a false negative.


DR. STARR:  Both false negatives and false positives can occur.  False negatives are most common early because the antibody response in your body is fairly slow compared to other infections.  So, in the first four to six weeks it’s not unusual to have a negative test, even though someone is positive later on, and they even have an EM rash—you know, a clinically diagnosed case.  But it’s also possible to have false positives, depending on the lab diagnostics used.  


The diagnostic challenges are, I think, quite immense with this disease.  And again, I’m sure the physicians will be able to describe better than I some of those.  But no test is perfect, and that’s why the case definition uses a combination of information based on the patient’s clinical history and the test results.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’ll hold off on further questions, and let me go ahead and get into the second panel.  Let me once again remind the speakers, and I think you’ve been briefed by my staff, as to your timeline.  


We have three witnesses in the second panel, “Patient Advocacy Perspective:  Critical Issues in Lyme Disease.”  We want to welcome Ms. Tan who’s joined us.  She’ll be the second speaker.  We’ve been joined by Senators Escutia and Kuehl, and I want to thank them.  They are very diligent about educating themselves on the policy issues.


Let me ask Mr. Parlier to open, and if you would just introduce yourself and identify yourself for the record.


Welcome.


MR. CHRIS PARLIER:  Thank you.  


My name is, of course, Chris Parlier.  I’m chairman of the Lyme Disease Advisory Committee within the Department of Health Services.  I’m a retired special agent with the California Department of Justice, Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement, and I’ll get into kind of how that happened with my retirement.


On April 30th, 1997, while employed as a special agent with the California Department of Justice, Bureau of Narcotic Enforcement, Los Angeles Methamphetamine Task Force, I was assigned to a small team which conducted a covert reconnaissance and surveillance of a suspected clandestine methamphetamine laboratory located in a North Los Angeles County mountain region known as “Tick Canyon.”  If I knew what I know now, I don’t think I ever would have went.


As a state narcotics agent with over fourteen years of law enforcement experience, I always thought if I was ever going to be seriously injured at work, it would have been through a shooting, a major car accident, or possibly a hazardous chemical exposure from a drug lab.  Never in my wildest dreams could I have imagined the threat an undetected diseased tick, which had infiltrated my camouflage uniform that night, would pose to my health and my very life.  


Lyme disease has unfolded as a very difficult, multi-stage, multi-symptom illness of great complexity and variability.  This systemic tick-borne disease in its early stages presents itself with intense flu-like symptoms (which I had) and, in approximately half the cases, the appearance of a “bull’s-eye” shaped rash known as an erythema migrans, like Dr. Starr alluded to.  


If this disease is not initially identified and properly treated, the pathogenic spirochetal bacteria which causes Lyme disease will progress by attacking various body systems such as the neurological and musculoskeletal systems and/or degeneration of major joints along with possible brain and heart abnormalities.  In my case, I suffered from a several-year battle with crippling neurological and musculoskeletal symptoms which led to a service-related medical retirement.  However, I consider myself one of the lucky ones.  The leadership within the California Department of Justice and the Attorney General’s Office never wavered in their support during these difficult times.  My very expensive medical needs were met along with long-term intensive IV and oral treatments, along with other supportive treatments.  I have gained some semblance of my old life back.  


As a result of the passage of SB 1115, I was appointed to the Department of Health Services’ Lyme Disease Advisory Committee which, among other things, provides general Lyme disease information to aid Californians in the prevention and detection of this illness.  This is accomplished by the various disciplines representing community support groups, physician and scientific specialists, along with DHS vector-borne disease representatives and, also, representatives like Dr. Starr.  Although all aspects of the committee may not be perfect, it offers an important voice for the free flow of information from government to its citizens and citizens to their government.  Part of the successes of the committee have been:

· The completion of the Lyme Disease in California brochure.

· Warning bulletins for possible epidemic areas.

· Continued updating of DHS Lyme disease/tick-borne informational websites.

· Annual information news releases.

· Physician education questionnaires.

· General tick-borne prevention activities.  


As far as in the future, as far as what the committee can do—and we’ve talked to Dr. Starr about this—in the future, the state should possibly take an active role in adapting a more efficient reporting and tracking method system by possibly integrating laboratory results in the current tracking system.


In closing, I’d like to thank this committee for acknowledging and addressing this complex issue associated with Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Parlier.  I thought you were a bit young for retirement, but now I understand, and I appreciate the time and commitment you’ve made in the task force to advise us.  That is your role, and I appreciate that you take it very seriously.  We are here to learn more, so thank you for that.


I have a couple of questions, but, as always, I want to extend an opportunity to my colleagues should they have questions.  And certainly Ms. Rogers, who’s representing members of our committee, should she have any questions, she should feel free to weigh in.


Let me just ask a question of you.  If you had to pick one priority issue that would most advance the diagnosis in the reporting of Lyme disease, what would that recommendation be?  I don’t know if you have to operate officially as a member of the task force or whether you want to distinguish your personal opinion independent of your role as a member of the task force—or advisory committee.


MR. PARLIER:  Well, my opinion—personal—would be kind of what I elaborated on.  I think that, just like Dr. Starr said, you sometimes get false positives and false negatives on the lab results.  I think if there was an integrated reporting system from the laboratory directly to DHS instead of going through the physician process—because physicians are busy, and even though it’s a mandated requirement that they report this illness, it doesn’t necessarily happen.  I think that, along with the current method, that method would aid in the progress as far as tracking Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, something akin to a more timely and more systematic communication system—for example, public health officers—and a communication system that we’re trying. . . . we struggled independent of this issue to be able to create that kind of infrastructure to share communication across counties for disease surveillance.


MR. PARLIER:  Yes, ma’am.


The way it works in some counties, too, it seems like the physicians send them to their particular county, and then that county almost makes a judgment if it’s going to go on to DHS.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, do they have the discretion whether or not to report?


MR. PARLIER:  I’m not saying they have the discretion, but that has happened.  Again, with physicians, even if it’s reported, there is that backlog where a physician may send it in several months down the road.  So, as far as the current tracking, it may end up in the subsequent year, where it should have been in whatever year it was found.  But I think if you had a multi-faceted tracking system that gathered information, maybe just not from one specific area but other people that are in the process of detecting Lyme disease were allowed to report this also.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you have an opinion on whether there’s any consensus on prevention strategies?  Obviously, there’s education and awareness, and there are some very sophisticated people in this audience who are very much aware of how to try to prevent exposure and did all those things, yet still were exposed.  Beyond that education and awareness, any other prevention strategies?


MR. PARLIER:  Well, for myself, I knew nothing about Lyme disease up until the point I got it.  I had maybe heard of the illness, but that was about it.  I always thought that, you know, if you got it, how bad could it be?  You get a cold or something and it goes away.  Even though I was assigned to Los Angeles—this task force—I’m from the Kern County area, and that’s where I saw my physician.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s one of the hotspots, isn’t it?


MR. PARLIER:  Well, Valley Fever’s a hotspot as far as an illness, but as far as Lyme disease, it’s almost like getting Valley Fever in Lyme, Connecticut.  I mean, nobody knows what it is.  And the response from my physician was, It looks like you have Lyme disease, but we don’t have it here in California.  I remember he brought out a medical book, and we both looked at it and read over it, as far as determining what course of treatment I should have.  And that wasn’t his fault.  He just had no knowledge of the illness.  


I think one of the responsibilities of the committee that we’ve tried to address with the limited resources that we have is to try and get the information out to physicians.  We did a physician questionnaire as far as trying to determine a certain percentage of physicians that actually are aware of Lyme disease and, if so, if they’ve seen any patients.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it’s also not only education and awareness of those who might be in a situation where they might be exposed to it, but a high level of education and awareness of physicians or medical health professionals who are called upon to diagnose and then order tests to hopefully diagnose.


MR. PARLIER:  Yes, ma’am.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it’s not an uncommon recommendation.  We hear about a lot of diseases.


Senator Kuehl or Ms. Rogers?  Any questions for this witness? 


Let me now extend our invitation and invite Ms. Tan, who has joined us today, to provide us information.  


Once again, thank you.


MS. AMY TAN:  Thank you.


My name is Amy Tan, and I’m a writer.  Like most people, I depend on my brain for my work.  In recent years, though, I feared I was losing my brain—bits, pieces, and, at times, whole chunks.  You see, I’m also your typical patient of chronic neurological Lyme disease. 


Like many Lyme disease patients, I was an active person before I was ill.  I loved the outdoors.  I hiked and skied, and I rarely saw the doctor except for my annual checkup.  But like many chronic Lyme disease patients, after I was infected, I had to see ten specialists before learning what was truly the root of my problems.  Between 1999 and 2003, I saw a psychiatrist, an internist, an endocrinologist, two neurologists, a sleep disorder specialist, a cardiologist, a dermatologist, a surgeon, and an orthopedic surgeon before I finally saw a Lyme disease specialist.  I am also typical in that I had multi-systemic problems; yet, my doctors were not able to put together the myriad clues to see how clearly this disease pointed to an infective process with neurological consequences.


In 1999 I had reported to my doctor that I had a large, growing, red rash followed by more red, expanding rashes and I wondered if those rashes had anything to do with an increasing insensitivity in my feet—a numbness my doctor diagnosed as neuropathy.  No, my doctor said.  Rashes would not be related to this.  And there went my chance to avoid a chronic case of Lyme disease.


Within two years I had trouble concentrating.  I couldn’t remember what I had written.  I felt apathetic, constantly fatigued; as if I was always coming down with an illness.  On lab tests, I had sporadic hypoglycemia in the twenties and thirties but no symptoms.  An MRI showed fifteen lesions in my frontal and parietal lobes.  I was told that was normal for a person of my age.  I was 49 at the time.


Eventually, one of my adrenal glands was removed, and I was given massive amounts of steroids.  Five days later my hallucinations began, as did a bizarre sleep disorder in which I acted out my now nightly nightmares of being killed.  I saw people walking into my room; two girls jumping rope; numbers spinning on an odometer; a fat poodle hanging from the ceiling.  While acting out dreams, I punched lamps, my nightstand, and often my husband.  And once I dove out of bed and landed on my head, nearly breaking my neck.


My memory problems increased to the point I could not write.  I was a writer of novels who needed to keep in mind from page 1 to page 400 the thread of a story.  I couldn’t keep the thread for a paragraph and sometimes not even for a sentence.  I could no longer read and remember what I had just read.  I could no longer follow a fast conversation at parties or at conferences.  I would become lost even in my own neighborhood, finding suddenly that nothing looked familiar.  I could no longer drive because I could no longer remember fast enough whether a red light meant my foot should depress the left pedal or the right.  I no longer could leave the house by myself and was becoming agoraphobic.  For most of my problems, my doctors suggested it was all a normal part of aging.  


Let me add here that my doctors were affiliated with major urban hospitals, were tops in their department, and, in fact, two were either the chief of staff or former chief of staff.  I trusted them and I liked them.  They ordered plenty of expensive tests:  an MRI, CAT scans, EEGs, and so forth.  But not once did anyone ever mention the possibility of Lyme disease.  At one time I thought a specialist did, for I saw that a test had been run called an ELISA.  I looked up ELISA, saw that it was a test for Lyme, and I also saw for the first time all my symptoms described under “Lyme Disease.”  But then the specialist said that the test was negative for syphilis.  When I asked for a Lyme test, he said that Lyme did not exist in California.  I said I had a home in New York and went there once a month and weekended in the country.  Too rare, he said.  You couldn’t possibly have that.


By then I could barely move my left arm.  My muscles were stiff, my hip joint ached, my memory was shot, and I was desperate and decided to find a Lyme-literate doctor.  My Lyme doctor did think the history of my multiple expanding rashes and the fifteen lesions in my brain were significant in light of my other symptoms.  He ran a Western blot with IGeneX and that did test positive.  At last I had my answer.  I could now get better instead of progressively worse.


But let me hasten to add that not all chronic Lyme disease patients test positive on the Western blot; at least not at the level set by the doctors who follow CDC surveillance criteria as diagnostic.  That’s because the tests are woefully inadequate, and I know this firsthand because recently I took part in a study in which my blood was sent out to five different labs throughout the country for the ELISA and the Western blot and the PCR, and the results were all over the place, with Lyme-specific bands lighting up in one lab and not the other.  There was almost not a single consistency.  In addition, I had a negative ELISA test but a positive PCR; meaning, I had DNA evidence of Borrelia in my blood, and this was nine months after I had started antibiotic treatment.


Like many late-stage neurological Lyme patients, it took a while for symptoms to begin to lift.  A month after starting, the joints and muscle problems eased up.  Two months and some of the fog finally lifted, and I frantically wrote for long days, fearful that this curtain would come down again.  I’ve been under treatment now for a year.  I consider myself about 85 percent improved from where I was about a year ago.  I still have memory black holes when I’m tired, and I have neuropathy in my feet and my hands.  And I know that my late diagnosis means that I am in this for years, if not for life, but at least I have my mind back.


My case, I believe, typifies the level of knowledge that most physicians in California have about Lyme disease.  They are ignorant and misinformed, thanks to a larger medical community that continues to put forth the notion that Lyme disease is rare, if not absent, in California; that the screening test can definitively rule out the disease; that ten days to two weeks of antibiotics are enough no matter how long the patient has been infected.  This is the position that insurance companies and HMOs have held fast to and which lead to tragic consequences for many Lyme disease patients.  


I am one of the lucky ones.  I found a doctor who uses his clinical judgment; who sees it as imperative to treat me in an open-ended way according to my symptoms.  If I had followed the diagnostic course of most other doctors, I would not be sitting here before you today able to speak in words, sentences, and paragraphs about the misinformation and early mistakes that now make me a typical case of chronic neurological Lyme disease.  


I urge that we make changes in how we report, diagnose, and treat Lyme disease in California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Tan.


There’s certainly some questions I have that I’d like to ask, but let me welcome my colleague who actually represents the district that has far more cases and maybe even actual cases, whether they’re reported or not, of Lyme disease and offer Senator Chesbro an opportunity to welcome all of you and weigh in.


Senator Chesbro.


SENATOR WESLEY CHESBRO:  I apologize for being late to the hearing, but I’ve certainly just heard some very compelling testimony from a very credible source.  So, I appreciate you being here and sharing your story with us.


I missed the beginning of the story, so I apologize, but how recently were you told by doctors that Lyme disease doesn’t exist in California?


MS. TAN:  I was told last year.  Before I went to see a Lyme disease specialist, I was told by a neurologist there was no Lyme disease in California, and that even though I lived part-time in New York, that it was so rare it was impossible that I could have it.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, you couldn’t represent my Senate district and believe that it doesn’t exist in California.  I’m glad we have some physicians coming up to speak in a while to hear their perspective.


I know I was bitten by a tick not long ago on a backpack trip and went to my doctor and, fortunately, was told, Better safe than sorry, even though he didn’t feel he could positively diagnose it, and he put me on a course of antibiotics in response to it.  I assume that that took care of it.  I guess I could find out in the future whether that did or not.  But it’s disturbing to know that there exists that lack of awareness of the disease in California.  So, that’s a real concern we have to face, and I appreciate your bringing it to our attention.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Chesbro.


I think we had heard the gentleman who’s retired from the Department of Justice after being exposed, and who’s on the advisory group that you created through your legislation also, was told by his physician that Lyme disease did not exist in California.  Is that correct?  Am I misstating that, Mr. Parlier?


MR. PARLIER:  Yes, ma’am.  He referred me to a local infectious disease specialist that said the same thing.  He brought out the medical journal as far as finding out what the course of treatment would be.  Well, in hindsight, knowing what I know now, that recommendation was probably, at least, fifteen years out of date.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  One of the points that was raised earlier was the need for a higher level of not only education awareness of the public when they might be exposed—putting themselves in a situation that might expose them to a tick-borne disease—but also the level of education and awareness that is needed in the medical community.  Of course, we’ll hear from the physicians as they come forward as well.


I’d like to ask Ms. Tan a couple of questions.  Going back to the same things that you may have covered in your testimony and others have covered—but for the sake of repetition here and having us agree on what some of the recommendations would be from your perspective—are there additional steps that the state and local public health agencies can make to ensure that people are adequately warned about the disease in prevalent areas? 


Let me just say that many of us become aware of what some would consider rare diseases by having personal friends or family exposed to them.  Then you know everything, and you’re just surprised that everyone else doesn’t know about that.  But are there easier ways to educate the public before they are exposed to tick-borne diseases?  What would your recommendations be?


MS. TAN:  Well, I think part of it is that with reporting, we would have more awareness that it is here in California.  I also don’t think it’s that rare.  I think we’re going to be surprised how many people actually have this because, in the time that I’ve been diagnosed, I’ve met hundreds of people who have Lyme disease, and many of them are in California.  And I can’t believe that I’ve met all one hundred who were reported every year at this point in time.


The other is, I think that it’s going to have to include a little bit better campaign.  I, as a patient, was led to believe that all of the symptoms appear at once.  For example, that the rash appears and it’s immediately a “bull’s eye” as opposed to a clearing gradually from the center on out.  I had a reoccurrence of my rash, so then I was able to see what actually happened:  that it was red in the beginning and then the center cleared and created the “bull’s eye.”  The other is that you may not get immediately all the joint problems; that they may happen several months later.  


So, all of this, you know, when you start saying, Well, I didn’t have the “bull’s eye”; I didn’t have the stiff neck; I didn’t have the arthritis immediately.  It must mean that I don’t have Lyme disease.  That was one of my mistakes; although, I was also vastly ignorant.  Being a Californian, I was of the impression it was an East Coast disease.


But I think the primary information source is going to come from the doctors.  So, if you have a doctor who says, A rash and neuropathy or a rash and stiff neck have nothing in common, that’s your trusted source of information.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that’s what you were told.


MS. TAN:  You need to have doctors who are aware of that and are much more aware of Lyme and don’t treat it like a stigmatized disease.


And I’ll say one other thing, is that when I went back to some of those doctors and said, I found out what I have; it’s Lyme disease, they said, You couldn’t have that.  Even though I had tested positive.  That’s when they said, Oh, those tests are highly inaccurate.  I said, Well, why do people use them, then, to diagnose if they’re highly inaccurate?  And then I was told, You don’t want to have that disease.  It’s a stigmatized disease.

I think it’s a stigmatized disease that a lot of doctors simply don’t want to have anything to do with.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  We’re not going to cover the topic in this hearing, but I know that these diagnoses and treatments and being debilitated by this disease lead into other issues:  worker’s comp; acknowledgement in claims and rates of denial there; certainly whether or not modes of treatment that are novel but not recognized as standard will be accepted by your HMO; the out-of-pocket expenses associated with chasing a means of treatment that can relieve much of the suffering.  In many cases, the disease continues to progress.  Unfortunately, we’re not going to be able to go into those sort of collateral issues, but I know that they affect quality of life and an individual’s ability to handle this.  It’s really quite, quite sad when lives are disrupted like this.


Thank you for your testimony.  Feel free to stay.


We do have one final speaker, and I’m going to try to pronounce your name—Charise?


MS. OTT:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Charise Ott.  If you would introduce yourself on the record and give us your story, I’d appreciate that.


Thank you.


MS. OTT:  Good afternoon.  My name is Charise Ott, and I live in Orange County.  I have been a Lyme patient for six years.  The last twelve months I have been on an IV PIC line and remain on one today.  


Although I have been a patient for six years, I have been sick much longer.  When I first became ill, I had the early symptoms of Lyme disease, easily treatable with oral antibiotics.  I saw eleven doctors in the Orange County area.  Eight of those doctors ordered the basic Lyme blood test.  Eight out of eight tests came back positive for Lyme disease.  Unfortunately, none of the doctors I saw would prescribe an antibiotic and dismissed the test as false positive; some claiming I didn’t have the classic “bull’s-eye” rash.  They acknowledged that I was sick but not with Lyme.  By the time I got to a knowledgeable physician who was educated in tick-borne illnesses, I was in the late stages of the disease.  The disease had entered the heart, brain, central nervous system, and attacked both retinas.  Many patients have the same story as mine:  they were misdiagnosed or unable to find a physician who would treat their disease.  That delay prevents many patients from being cured.  


But I didn’t come here today to talk with you about myself.  I came to talk with you about something more severe and life-altering.  What many people do not know, including most physicians, is that Lyme disease can be transmitted from mother to child by in-utero transmission or through breast milk.  I unknowingly passed this disease to our son at birth.  Fortunately, because of research I had done when I became ill, I knew what progressive symptoms to look for in a child.  When he showed one symptom, I dismissed it as a normal childhood problem.  When he began to have six or seven symptoms, I knew enough to seek the proper help.  He tested highly positive and was clinically diagnosed with congenital Lyme disease.  I knew then that we would not be able to have any more children because of the fear of passing it on.  The five-bedroom home we purchased years before was bought with the dream of filling those bedrooms with three or four children.  That dream was gone.  


We are not the only family whose dream has been shattered from Lyme.  We represent thousands of families in this state who are suffering from this disease; a disease that many of them caught from an infected tick in California.  According to the California Department of Health, 55 out of 58 counties in our state have Lyme-infected ticks.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you to repeat that.


MS. OTT:  Fifty-five out of 58 counties.  I believe you have the brochure Dr. Starr had submitted.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, which are the three that do not have any detected cases?


MS. OTT:  I think by now the ticks made it there.  That was June of 2002.


DR. STARR:  I have to admit I cannot remember what the far northeastern corner county is.  


UNIDENTIFIED:  Modoc.


DR. STARR:  Modoc, Alpine, and Mono; although, Mono, on the other chart I passed out, has had some human cases.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, that’s subsequent to 2002.


DR. STARR:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s probably all 58.  


Thank you.


MS. OTT:  That was made in June of 2002, so now, probably, all 58.


For this reason alone, this is not just an East Coast disease.  It is a rapidly emerging problem in California because people in California travel out of state and get infected, and people move here from other states who are already infected.  Just two weeks ago the Orange County Register ran a story about a fellow Lyme patient who lived in Orange County and recently lost his battle to the disease.  He was bitten by a tick in Connecticut at age 38.  He died from Lyme disease at age 46.  He was in the prime of his life, recently married, and a successful businessman.  He, like many people, traveled out of state for his medical care.  I mention his story because it addresses several important issues with Lyme disease.


Number one:  This disease can be fatal.


Number two:  We need educated doctors in our state.  As I and many others have witnessed firsthand, doctors in California are not equipped to treat and often are not even open to treating Lyme disease.


Number three:  The dimensions of Lyme disease as a patient are life-changing and have far-reaching effects that no one anticipates.


Whether infection occurs by the bite of a tick or from mothers passing it to their children or from infection contracted in California or outside of California, Lyme disease has to be taken seriously in our state.


Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your story.  I know you’ve gone through a lot with your child and yourself.  Just know that your story and your information is really helpful if we can get to a place in California where we actually can make policy given our budget situation; that this is all valuable information.


Let me allow Senator Chesbro to weigh in.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, this is very helpful.  I have not considered—it seems rather obvious now that you bring it up—or I have not heard of cases of Lyme disease being passed on through birth.


Have you, in the process of learning about this, been able to find out about how common an issue it is—how common the spread is?


MS. OTT:  It’s fairly common.  I mean, there are families who have infected all their children.  Mothers have passed it on to each child.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  It seems obvious to me now, and I apologize for it not occurring to me, but it’s obviously a very serious further ripple and wave created by Lyme disease infections.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is it because the spirochetes are in the blood and the transmission of the blood?  Is that the mechanism that transfers?


MS. OTT:  I believe it crosses the placenta, but I would ask one of the doctors.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hopefully, they’ll address that point because, again, all of these diseases that are affecting our lives as a function of, you know, travel, international, there are no boundaries for disease any longer, whatever the means of transmission.  We get a lot of awareness about West Nile, and I’m anxious to hear from the vector-control witnesses.  But, I mean, there are no boundaries to disease with flights and modes of transportation, international or elsewhere in this country.  There’s no reason that local public health officers and the medical community across the system are as unaware of this.  Education doesn’t cost as much as research or treatment or staffing.  This is something that is really troubling:  that we hear this consistent theme that you’re told that we don’t have Lyme disease in California.  


I asked my staff whether CMA was going to be here, but again, the physicians are going to be the ones that, hopefully, will be able to speak either as individuals treating the disease or as official representatives of the California Medical Association.  It would be helpful to understand where they think the level of awareness is in the medical community.  I think it’s sort of Catch-22 unless the medical community is more sophisticated and is more aware in their very busy days to take the extra steps to order the tests and/or be a little more attentive to the symptoms that are either articulated or not articulated by each of the patients.  Until we get that, we aren’t going to get the diagnosis and which are going to keep the numbers falsely below the actual cases.  So, it’s a Catch-22, and it’s our job to try to figure out how to make this policy effective and change that situation in California for you all.


With that, unless there are other questions from any of my colleagues, let me just thank you all for being here.  And Dr. Starr, I don’t know if you want to stay up here, because you may be the one person who has questions.  Unless someone wants to comment?


Okay.  I thank all the speakers here and invite Mr. Keith to come to the table on vector control.


Welcome, Mr. Keith.


MR. RONALD D. KEITH:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hopefully, you’re going to shed some insight from the perspective of the vector control and the local public health perspective.


MR. KEITH:  Yes.  I wanted to thank you for inviting me to the hearing.


From what you just heard, I have to preface my comments with the fact that I, too, am a Lyme patient.  I’m a trained medical entomologist, and I got it off the job mountain biking, and I, more than anyone, should know about the rash.  I did have a rash.  I went to my large HMO and went through the EIA process that you heard about.  Of course, it came back negative.  My physician, my family practitioner, told me that I should wait for additional symptoms to occur, which I did.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How long did you wait?


MR. KEITH:  I waited for several weeks.  Of course, the spirochete disseminates rather rapidly into the system.  By the time I got antibiotics, it was probably fourteen weeks.  I had to bail out of my HMO and seek therapy somewhere else.  The infectious disease doctor at the hospital was pretty much denying that Lyme occurred in California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which county was this?


MR. KEITH:  This is Santa Rosa—Sonoma County.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which should be a fairly high . . .


MR. KEITH:  Yes.  We do studies, and we have infection rates very high—well, higher than other counties—which I’ll get to here very shortly.  


But I just wanted to preface my comments with that.  Hindsight is much better, as Chris Parlier mentioned.  I should have been knocking down the doors of Kaiser—I mean, the HMO—and demanding antibiotics, but I didn’t do it.  So, that’s my comments.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. KEITH:  I do have a PowerPoint . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think we have a little technical assistance here.  I’m going to take the lead from whomever is doing the PowerPoint here.


MR. KEITH:  In honor of time here, I want to mention that there is a handout.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hopefully, the public has copies of this.  There are handouts and printouts on the presentation.


MR. KEITH:  So, I’ll proceed while we’re working on . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you’re the assistant manager of the Marin/Sonoma Mosquito and Vector Control District.


MR. KEITH:  Right—which there are 52 agencies like ourselves throughout the state.  We have the ability to test ticks and look at the infection rates, and we do a number of studies in conjunction with the state health department—the vector biology unit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you’ve got your hands busy with West Nile as well.


MR. KEITH:  Yes.  The lead slide is kind of talking about the West Nile issue, and we expect that to be a big push this year.  


But we’re here to talk about Lyme disease and tick-borne diseases, so I’ll proceed.


There’s a number of tick-borne diseases that the second slide shows that you can see there.  And then, too, there is the standard slide that talks about the Lyme disease as an infectious disease carried by spirochetes.  This is just general information and pictures of the rash.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You may want to go ahead and begin with the presentation.  Hopefully, when the PowerPoint is up and going, he’ll catch up.


MR. KEITH:  It was sitting up there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know.


MR. KEITH:  Okay.  Well, I’ll go ahead and begin.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please do.


MR. KEITH:  What I want to say is we were a mosquito abatement district for many years, and we changed our title to vector control, which addresses all these other types of diseases.  And so, we feel that we’re able to, at the local level, provide the information to the community about these other types of vector-borne diseases.  


In 1990, I believe, we corroborated with Lucia Wee with the state health department and Marty Castro at the Santa Rosa office to do numerous studies on Lyme disease.  There was a real outcry in a community in the Sonoma Valley named Diamond A.  It’s up in the hills, so the east facing slope, of the Sonoma mountains.  The ecology is appropriate and very adept to carrying these particular diseases:  large deer population which builds the tick population.  There’s no predators for the deer.  The deer population are extensive and large, so this grows the tick population.  There is a large community of wood rats, and wood rats have been designated or defined as a reservoir:  where the bacteria is available for the tick to pick up and then subsequently transmit it to the human or horse or whatever.  And so, there’s other diseases that we located in this Diamond A community.  


Lucia and I, working with the state health department at the time, were concerned with all these concerns of the people that were presenting with all sorts of different neuropathies and different symptoms of Lyme disease, and so, we did some tick collection.  Actually, we provided ticks to a researcher at CDC Atlanta.  We were looking for ehrlichiosis at the time.  The ehrlichiosis—the monocytic form—was only described in 1987; and of course, the granulocytic form of ehrlichia was as recent as 1994.  So, these are brand new diseases, relatively speaking, and so, we corroborated with a researcher at CDC Atlanta, and they found that there were infected ticks with ehrlichia.  


Subsequent to that, a researcher—an EIS officer—came from CDC to examine this community.  They did a serosurvey on 230 residents in this community—of volunteers—looking for Lyme basically, but they found a 1.4 percent seropositivity for Lyme, but they found a fairly large seropositivity for babesia—17 percent of the people—and 4.5 or 5 percent for the monocytic form of ehrlichia.  So, this was really an eye-opener about the other tick-borne diseases.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And let me make sure I understand this.  This was just a random screening.


MR. KEITH:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They detected a 17 percent rate for . . . 


MR. KEITH:  Right—of the 450-odd community members in this community of ranchettes, large homes.  There’s about 450 total residents there.  We got 230 people to participate in the serosurvey, so they donated blood and had testing done on it.  This was reported in the Journal of Infectious Diseases by Dr. Fritz at the state health department.  It was really an eye-opener that there were other diseases in the community.


Basically, the messages that we do—corroborative work at the vector control level—not all agencies such as ourselves have the capability of doing this, but we do it for our community members to let them know what the infection rate is at various locations.  So, we’ve really been, now recently, looking at the state parks in our community.  Let’s see, Sugar Loaf State Park; Annadel State Park.  I obtained my disease at Annadel State Park, which we have done testing on recently.  It’s a PCR test.  It’s a very definitive test for the bacteria in the tick.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask whether that PCR test could be considered and used as a diagnostic . . . 


MR. KEITH:  No, it’s not diagnostic for humans.  It’s not very good.  There is no really definitive test for humans.  You’ve heard of the difficulty.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m trying to get us to agree that that may be one of the problems.


MR. KEITH:  But in the tick itself it’s very definitive.  We can locate the bacteria.  Another point I want to make is that the bacteria—there may be two or three hundred different strains of this bacteria.  So, it’s very complex.  Dr. Lane at UC Berkeley is working in that regard on that issue.


So, we’re looking at that slide with the infection rates.  We did have a first case of, I believe, the HME—the monocytic form of ehrlichia—in Marin County.  A human case.  That was in 1994.  So, we do have these tick-borne diseases in conjunction with Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, if someone tests negative for Lyme but tests positive for babesiosis . . . 


MR. KEITH:  It’s a different treatment, yes.  There are different treatments.  I think the ehrlichia can be treated.  Actually, ehrlichia has been renamed to Anaplasma phagocytophila, which is a little confusing, but they are treatable diseases.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If diagnosed early.


MR. KEITH:  If you’re diagnosed early.


Here’s just some data on the HGE results in the rodents and ticks.  This is a tick, I believe.  These were collected in Santa Cruz, Sonoma, El Dorado, and Orange counties.  So, we do have positives in those locations.


And then, if we go to the next slide, it’s more technical.  If you see the HME results, this is also ticks collected from Santa Cruz County, and we have positives about a range of a 13 percent infection rate.


We did want to let you know that we do these rodent trappings and bleedings to look for seropositivity in the animals.  So, we’re still looking for the actual reservoirs.  We feel that there are other reservoirs.  Some colleagues at Sacramento/Yolo County have found spirochetes in birds, and birds do carry ticks and move it around throughout the community.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just make sure I understand.  So, deer, rats, and birds.


MR. KEITH:  Well, deer are not reservoirs.  They do not carry the disease here.  It’s a much different ecology back East.  It’s the Peromyscus leucopus—a very small mouse—that is one of the reservoirs back East.  Here we have a much broader reservoir picture.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But they carry the tick that then becomes . . .


MR. KEITH:  Yes.  The deer raise the tick populations to an extreme level, and then the wood rats, as far as we know, and birds are the reservoirs.  We’re still looking at other animals, like gray squirrels.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Does every vector control district do the kind of sampling and testing that your vector control is doing?


MR. KEITH:  Only those that have the staff and funding to do that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That would be only you.


MR. KEITH:  Well, Sacramento, Orange County.  The larger districts do this.  But the smaller ones, they don’t do any at all.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please continue.


MR. KEITH:  We’re suited up like that because of hantavirus, which is another problem with rodents.  They can carry it.  


We found 187 rodents at this site.  This was at the Sonoma Development Center in Glen Ellen.  We looked at 187 rodents.  You see the dusky-footed wood rat, deer mice, pinyon mouse, California vole, and harvest mouse.  And then, the next slide shows the results of that:  25 of 74 wood rats did have the ehrlichia.  I know we’re here to talk about Lyme, but I just wanted to mention that there are other diseases that these ticks do carry and that the rodents carry.


This slide kind of really tells it.  You have an overlapping of four different kinds of problems here:  Lyme, babesiosis, ehrlichia, and bartonella.  


And then, if we can go on to the next slide, this shows you kind of what we talked about.  This is out of date, this slide, but 52 out of 54 counties have Borrelia in the tick population.  I suspect it is in all of the ticks in these counties.  It’s just a matter of looking for it and finding it.


I believe that’s the last of my comments that I have.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you. 


Senator Chesbro, any questions for this witness?


Let me just ask one question because I don’t know where we are on time.  We’re okay?  Let me ask whether releasing the data or the stats on infected ticks, having that released in conjunction with the formal count data on Lyme disease cases, would be helpful to then provide to those counties or those physicians in that service area.


MR. KEITH:  To the public?  Yes, I do believe that is probably a good idea.  Certainly, we know that Mendocino County is the true hotspot, and you’ll find infection rates as high as 13 to 14 percent in the adult tick population and much higher, even, in the nymphal stage, which is the small stage of the tick that’s down in leaf litter and is active in the spring months.  That is the stage that is probably the most responsible for transmission.  People do not see it and it drops off.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In the nymph stage.


MR. KEITH:  It’s very small—the size of a poppy seed. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How do you test that?


MR. KEITH:  It’s tough.  It really is.  In the Diamond A community, the kids were doing things that kids do:  leaf surfing down the hills in leaf litter.  And this is exactly where the tick population is.  The person we were working with there—the mother and her two children were infected.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are you seeing—and again, the physicians will probably answer this question—are you seeing a larger number of cases of children diagnosed?


MR. KEITH:  I don’t get that particular information.  No, I wouldn’t have that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Starr, any data on children being exposed in California and reported?


DR. STARR:  I don’t know that it’s increasing, but we have all ages affected by the disease.  It’s typically been what is called bimodal:  children and middle-aged adults are the two biggest groups that are affected.  The middle age is like 28 but is really quite a bit below and quite a bit above that.  So, children are a high-risk group, and a lot of it’s because of what was just described as far as the activities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How about occupations?  Do you see any sort of clusters or any obvious occupation areas?


DR. STARR:  Not other than the obvious ones we haven’t.  I mean, most of it’s avocation-related or where they live:  they’re out hiking or if they happen to live in an area like was just described.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What about biologists, field biologists, that go out?


DR. STARR:  Those would be the ones that you. . . . you know, people out in the woods every day have a higher risk of exposure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  My sense is, I’m hoping they receive the highest level of not only education and awareness but screening and reeducation by their employers.  It’s not your question, but I hope some of the witnesses will clarify that.


MR. KEITH:  If I might, we’ve made presentations to PG&E and other outside type activity groups.  State park workers—we’ve given presentations to those.  So, those people that are out and about.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But even in your profession.


MR. KEITH:  Well, certainly.  And I’m out there doing it all the time, but I got bit off the job.  It was the last thing from my mind.  I was having fun, and so, I get bit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You were riding a bike?


MR. KEITH:  Yes, I was.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Were you on a road or on a trail?


MR. KEITH:  I was on a trail in Annadel State Park.  I came home and the tick was embedded in my left forearm.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  I know because I’ve walked in that park.  Every day there are hundreds, maybe thousands, of people that walk in that park all the time or ride bikes.


MR. KEITH:  Absolutely.  Some of our workers have been out collecting ticks out there.  It’s not uncommon to go out and in a couple of hours get two or three hundred.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  That’s a significant exposure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you could take your dog out there and your dog could come home with the tick.


MR. KEITH:  Sure.  It’s, again, a significant exposure, but you’ve got to realize that, on average, there’s only 2 or 3 percent of the adult ticks that are infected, but you just don’t want to be the one that gets that bite.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  For those of you who haven’t been to Santa Rosa, this park’s on the edge of town.  I was out in the middle of the King Range, you know, twenty miles from the road head, but you were where hundreds of people go every day, near a suburban neighborhood.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Appreciate this.  Thank you for your testimony.  I think if anyone wants handouts, we’ll make sure that they’re made available for those of you who weren’t able to get a copy of this.  But thank you for your presentation.


I’m going to ask the next panel to come forward, and that is the “Physician Perspective:  Diagnosis, Treatment, and Prevention.”  We have Raphael Stricker, who’s an MD, Union Square Medical Associates; and Steven Harris, MD, private practice, from Malibu, Long Beach, and Fairfield.  Dr. Dean Blumberg, MD, pediatric infectious diseases.  He’s come here frequently in the past.  I think that’s it for our panelists.


Let’s have Dr. Stricker begin.


Welcome.


DR. RAPHAEL B. STRICKER:  Thank you very much, Senator Ortiz, members of the committee, honored guests.


First, let me take this opportunity to thank the committee for inviting me to speak about the growing public health threat of Lyme disease in California.  


I am a practicing physician in San Francisco with a specialty in internal medicine.  I am a member of the California Lyme Disease Association and president-elect of the International Lyme and Associated Diseases Society (or ILADS), which is an international organization of medical providers with expertise in treating patients with Lyme disease.  


I currently have over 600 Lyme disease patients in my practice in San Francisco, and I have watched the number of patients with this disease grow exponentially over the past five years.  Patients come to me from all over the State of California, and many of these patients have been ill for years.  Sadly, they have been unable to find a medical provider who can diagnose and treat them for Lyme disease.


My practice reflects the increasing rate of Lyme disease in California.  This increase should not be a surprise to anyone.  After all, Lyme disease is the most common tick-borne disease in the world today.  It is caused by a spiral-shaped bacteria that is transmitted by the bite of a tick.  Patients with Lyme disease develop a combination of muscle and joint symptoms, neurologic problems, and heart abnormalities that may be severe and debilitating, as you’ve already heard.  Yet, in spite of the fact that the disease is so common, medical providers are often ignorant about how to diagnose and treat Lyme disease.  


There are a number of reasons for this ignorance.  First, the tell-tale “bull’s-eye” rash that is a classic sign of Lyme disease may be absent in more than half of Lyme disease patients.  Absence of the classic Lyme rash makes the diagnosis of the disease much more difficult.


Second, patients are often unaware of a tick bite.  In California, the Western black-legged tick that transmits Lyme disease may be no larger than a poppy seed and easily missed.


Third, Lyme disease may have a wide range of symptoms, and physicians are often unaware of the highly variable manifestations of the disease.


Fourth, testing for Lyme disease remains problematic, as you’ve heard.  For historical reasons, most laboratories in the United States use tests that are unstandardized and insensitive, and these tests give negative results in about half the cases of Lyme disease.


Fifth, treatment of Lyme disease has evolved in a haphazard fashion.  The “standard of care” (quote/unquote) for treating Lyme disease only addresses acute infection immediately following a tick bite.  The standard put forth by national medical organizations, such as the Infectious Disease Society of America, ignores the more common and severe chronic form of Lyme disease that many of my patients suffer from.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask and interrupt there because I think that’s something that I’d like. . . . that’s probably where there’s a huge divergence in treatment, as most cases are diagnosed well after there’s been a progression of the disease.  How do you treat someone in that scenario?  What are the options, in your opinion, and then, are there problems with HMOs approving those methods of treatment?


DR. STRICKER:  Well, that’s a very big question.  I think even at later stages of the disease, you can treat patients.  They may not respond as well as they would have early on, and that’s why it’s so important to diagnose them as early as possible.  But even at late stage you can treat patients, and they do respond.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  With antibiotics as well?


DR. STRICKER:  With antibiotics as well.  It may take more antibiotics and different types, but you can certainly treat them.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, essentially a cocktail of antibiotics.  A trial and error simply?


DR. STRICKER:  Exactly.  It’s empiric and over time, and you just have to see what works.  Unfortunately, because of the standards that we have, HMOs and insurance companies do not want to pay for this, and that’s been a huge problem in terms of treating patients with chronic disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to want to talk to you outside of this committee hearing for further recommendations, but let me have you continue.  I just think it bears a lot of redundancy and reiteration and education for us to see the bright lines in policymaking.  So, thank you.


You may continue.


DR. STRICKER:  For all of these reasons, Lyme disease has become a national health disaster.  We have seen thousands of patients around the country who have suffered the dire consequences of undiagnosed and untreated Lyme disease.  Their stories fill up pages and pages in medical journals, in newspaper articles, and in magazines; yet, our national medical organizations sit by and do nothing.


In California, we have a chance to do something about Lyme disease.  We are grateful to the State Legislature and the Department of Health Services for establishing the Lyme Disease Advisory Committee—and to Senator Chesbro as well—with the goal of educating medical providers and the public about Lyme disease, but we need to do more.


First, we need numbers.  We need to know how many cases of Lyme disease we have in our state.  The current physician-based reporting system is woefully inadequate.  There is a bill—AB 1091—currently before the State Legislature that would allow laboratory reporting of Lyme disease directly to the Department of Health Services, just like the system for reporting syphilis, tuberculosis, HIV disease, and other public health threats.  I urge you all to support this bill and adopt a reporting system that has worked extremely well in states such as Connecticut, Massachusetts, Minnesota, and Maryland.


Second, we need more education about Lyme disease.  This month we have witnessed a landmark publication by the International Lyme and Associated Disease Society (or ILADS).  That publication is the ILADS’ Guidelines for the Management of Lyme Disease, and I have a fairly soggy copy here.  It is the first comprehensive guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of all stages of Lyme disease, and it establishes a new standard of care for the management of Lyme disease by the medical community.  It should be required reading for every medical practitioner, for every healthcare agency, and for every medical student in our state.


Third, we need to listen to the voices of patients with Lyme disease.  You have already heard some of those voices today.  The voices come from people in every walk of life, in every corner of our society.  Those voices need to be heard.


Over a decade ago, a courageous physician named Joseph Burrascano testified at a health committee hearing of the United States Senate.  The committee had just been reassured by prominent members of the medical establishment that Lyme disease was a trivial illness that was (quote) “hard to catch and easy to cure” (unquote).  Dr. Burrascano spoke these words:  “The very existence of hundreds of Lyme support groups in the country and the tens of thousands of dissatisfied, mistreated, and ill patients whom these groups represent underscores the many problems that exist in the real world of Lyme disease.”  


Over a decade later now, those problems still exist in the real world of Lyme disease.  In California we can and we must address those problems for the benefit of everyone in our society.


Thank you very much for your attention.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.


Senator Chesbro, questions?


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, I was really struck by Ms. Tan’s earlier comments with regards to how recently she’d been told that it doesn’t exist in California.  I know I shouldn’t talk about anybody in particular or critique your profession, but how widespread do you perceive that that problem is?  Because it’s very disturbing if it is widespread.


DR. STRICKER:  I think it is widespread.  I often say I wish I had a nickel for every time I’ve heard that statement from other physicians who should know better.  Often you hear, Well, it does exist in California, but it’s extremely rare, and your chance of getting it is very. . . . it’s uncommon.  I’ve heard that from many physicians.  Physicians don’t know about the disease, and they think of it as an East Coast disease—it doesn’t exist here—and that’s a problem.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, I guess the other disturbing thing is, to talk about it in a statistical sense, however rare or not rare it might be, telling that to an individual who has the disease.  I mean, I’m sure there’s several things that have to go into a physician’s consideration.  One is frequency and how likely it is.  But on the other hand, even if it’s, in their opinion, an unlikely event and it is that disease, then the consequences are extreme—potentially.  And so, it seems like that would be another thing that should weigh in besides the prevalence.


DR. STRICKER:  Well, I think that’s why we need a better count of how many patients have this disease.  


To give you an example, when the state of Connecticut went from a physician reporting system of Lyme disease to a laboratory reporting system of Lyme disease, similar to what’s being proposed now, the number of cases of Lyme disease reported in that state went from 700 a year to 12,000 a year.  Now, granted, some of those positive tests may not have been accurate, but I think that that’s a closer estimate to what’s really happening with Lyme disease than the physician-reported cases.  So, we need numbers.  We need to know those numbers.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Hopefully, a little humor in a dark subject won’t be harmful here, but isn’t Lyme a town in Connecticut?  Maybe if we called it “Sacramento disease” or “Los Angeles disease” or “Eureka disease” . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t want Sacramento to be the name of a disease.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, that’s why I didn’t just mention Sacramento.  I tried to be very . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I like your district.  Leave mine alone.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  But in any case, we might end up with a little more focus on it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes.  Unfortunately, that may be the notoriety.


Senator Kuehl, do you have any questions for Dr. Stricker?


I’m going to read ILADS new guidelines, but are there any obvious, sort of highlighted points that you want to provide the committee right now in terms of management practices or diagnostic tools or recommendations?  Anything that stands out that you could share with us?


DR. STRICKER:  There is a section in the guidelines—Section 7—that is entitled, “Highlights of the Guidelines,” and this goes through the fact that the testing for Lyme disease is imperfect and a negative laboratory test should not be used to exclude a diagnosis of Lyme disease.  Lyme disease is a clinical diagnosis, so it’s the physician’s judgment that’s important; not the laboratory testing.  In addition, the use of antibiotics in Lyme disease is discussed extensively, and the use of prolonged courses of antibiotics for patients with recurrent and relapsing Lyme disease is discussed.  And those patients are the ones who are not addressed in the current guidelines from other medical organizations—the ones with more chronic forms of Lyme disease.  And that’s what these guidelines address.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know this is probably a loaded question, but there’s some recent information that’s been released regarding long-term use of antibiotics and risk factors for women with cancer.  Care to venture your opinion on that information and what that means for Lyme disease patients?


DR. STRICKER:  Well, I think that when antibiotics are used inappropriately, they can be dangerous.  I’m thinking of countries where you can buy penicillin over the counter and people take one dose and then they develop a resistant form of infection.  But in patients with Lyme disease who get a rational course of antibiotic therapy, I think that these are safe treatments, that they’re well tolerated, and there are minimal side effects.


The issue of cancer related to antibiotic treatment is something that’s very controversial.  I think we’re going to hear a lot more about that because the study that was just published is highly flawed, and I’m not sure how valid that is.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  We’ll have to wade through all of this.


Let me thank you for your testimony, and I think Dr. Blumberg is the next speaker.  Dr. Harris, excuse me.


Welcome.


DR. STEVEN J. HARRIS:  I’m Dr. Steven Harris.  Thank you all for the opportunity to speak today.  I was asked to speak to the issues in diagnosis and treatment of Lyme disease in underserved and rural communities.


Lyme disease potentially affects everyone in California, but in rural and underserved communities, the consequences are more dire.  A lot of my experience was drawn from my interaction with patients in Santee, near San Diego; an underserved community where I saw scores of patients devastated by this disease.  For these patients, more of these patients go undiagnosed.  Most of these patients do not receive adequate treatment even after being diagnosed.  We see several of these patients relapsing, and the end-game for these patients is to become another disability statistic, to become a drain on family and state resources, and significantly to lose control over their bodies and cognitive abilities.


I would like to add that, in fact, all patients with Lyme in California are underserved:  there are just not enough doctors who are treating these patients.  For each of the following cases, which I will present, there are at least thirty more in my practice who match these criteria, and I presume that Dr. Stricker has hundreds more.


I would like to mention that rural and underserved populations already feel a loss of control in their lives, and Lyme disease solidifies this powerlessness.  I’d like to note also that the health status percentages that I gave on these case studies are subjective and not rigorous but used to highlight the point.


Case study one:  a patient who remained undiagnosed for eighteen years.  She is a woman who was bit by a tick in Fort Bragg, California (Mendocino County).  She had a “bull’s-eye” rash at the time.  She had a very thriving CPA practice.  She went undiagnosed.  Over the next several years, she had loss of bladder control, loss of balance; developed slowness in her body movements.  She was finally diagnosed with Lou Gehrig’s disease after seeing several specialists at UC San Francisco and UC Davis.  She continued to decline, developing spasticity, severe fatigue, weakness, and eventually using a cane.  She went to another specialist—an ALS specialist in Michigan—who changed her diagnosis to multi-system atrophy.  She continued to decline, using a walker.  She developed slurred speech.  She had to cut down her CPA practice to fifteen hours a week and then, eventually, has had to cut down her practice to five hours a week.  Now her speech is almost unintelligible.  She has very minimal control of her body movements and frequently falls with her walker.


She was diagnosed with Lyme disease in November 2003.  It’s nice to say that, actually, just in two months, she’s already regained much of her speech back, and we hope that the movement disorder will eventually be turned around.


This patient’s health deteriorated unnecessarily due to physicians’ unwillingness to consider Lyme as a diagnosis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, when you say that in two months her speech has improved, that doesn’t mean that all the other long-term debilitating symptoms of Lyme disease have gone away.


DR. HARRIS:  I haven’t seen much change for the positive in the other symptoms yet.  That will probably take quite some time.


Case study two:  a patient who was diagnosed but received inadequate treatment.  This gentleman is a communications engineer.  He was healthy.  In 1999, he was bit by a tick in Kern County at Tejon Ranch putting up a communications tower.  He developed a rash which was not a “bull’s eye.”  He was diagnosed with Lyme and given twenty-four days of antibiotics.  He recovered promptly, back to a hundred percent health; however, after he finished his antibiotics, his symptoms recurred within one month.  He developed significant fatigue, depression, arthritis (which continued to progress over the next four years, becoming severe arthritis), abdominal pain, and the inability to concentrate and failure at work.  


He was diagnosed early, had short treatment, and he needed more treatment.  He probably could have been continuing at a hundred percent health at this time had he received the proper treatment.  


This patient’s health deteriorated unnecessarily due to physicians’ unwillingness to consider long-term antibiotic treatment at a higher than so-called normal doses.


Case study three:  a patient’s treatment was disrupted due to insurance denial of medical necessity.  This thirty-five-year-old female was bit by a tick in Fallbrook in northern San Diego County in 1995.  Over the next year, she developed 70 percent vision loss, loss of balance, loss of bladder control.  She was diagnosed with multiple sclerosis at that time.  Finally saw a doctor in 1996—end of ’96—who diagnosed her with Lyme disease and began treatment.  After two years on treatment, her vision returned to normal, and over the following two years, she became significantly improved but still had symptoms.


When I initially saw her in 2000, as she had been on antibiotics for four years at that time—a combination of two oral medicines—she still had symptoms but she was very stable.  We felt that we needed to give her body a rest from the antibiotics and also wanted to retest her at that time.  We stopped antibiotics temporarily and she had a rapid relapse.  She declined significantly, and before the tests came in, we started her back on the antibiotics—on orals.  She began to recover slowly.  We then put her on intravenous treatment, and she had a very rapid response.  However, after twenty-eight days of the IV treatment, her insurance cut her off; and then she appealed to the state, and they upheld the insurance denial, saying that this was not medically necessary.  She had another rapid decline within, about, three weeks.  Eventually, she and her family used their savings and then obtained medicine through Roche on a medical assistance program to get her back on the intravenous medicine.  We placed her on intravenous medicine for five more months, and she regained function to a hundred percent—a very rapid recovery for her.


I’d just like to say that she was given oral antibiotics throughout her pregnancy and delivered a healthy baby girl with no signs of Lyme disease.  However, I do have a patient who was also on amoxicillin through pregnancy who did deliver a baby which we found was positive fifteen months later when the antibody test is more reliable.  The baby was positive, although not yet symptomatic.


Case study four shows that someone can just become another statistic in disability and in medical assistance.  This gentleman was in Humboldt County in 1991.  He had a tick bite and a “bull’s-eye” rash.  He was an ex-marine sharpshooter and a timber faller.  He developed joint aches, stiff neck, and fatigue.  He was not given treatment.  He was forced to quit his job with the lumber company in ’93 due to illness and spent $15,000 out of pocket at Stanford University looking for a diagnosis.  None was found.  Out of necessity, he took a job with another lumber company and was finally diagnosed with Lyme in 2003. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, how many years after he probably first contracted it?


DR. HARRIS:  Thirteen.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Years?


DR. HARRIS:  Twelve years.  In 1991 he got the tick bite and got Lyme disease.  So, twelve years.


He began to improve on treatment—on oral treatment—but he was unable to continue to afford the medication.  I spoke with him a week ago.  He was laid off of work because he was unable to hold his chainsaw.


This patient’s health deteriorated and becomes unable to work and became a major drain on his family and state resources.  He will be a Medi-Cal and disability statistic in the next few weeks.


But California can improve the environment for Lyme disease patients in rural and underserved populations.  Many of these patients go undiagnosed.  An answer to this is increased physician education and the mandatory laboratory reporting bill.  If laboratory reporting was mandatory and mechanized, the prevalence of Lyme disease would be more accurate.  Currently, reporting reflects only a fraction of the incidence of cases.  Unless doctors are aware that Lyme is in their community, they will not be looking for it.


Number two:  most of these patients do not receive adequate treatment even after being diagnosed.  One thing that we could do, the California Medical Board could support Lyme disease treatment.  Doctors in many states are losing their licenses for treating Lyme disease longer than thirty days.  Every prescription of antibiotics I give out, I wonder if it’s going to be my last.  The California Medical Association has put out inflammatory statements regarding the treatment of Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just stop you there because I think that’s really important.  Did we extend an invitation for a formal representative of CMA?  No.  Hopefully, we’ll get some clarification because CMA is often represented in this committee.  It would be helpful.  I don’t know if my staff has that information, but I’d appreciate whatever inflammatory statements and/or documentation you have so we can ask them in a public setting to clarify that.


DR. HARRIS:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Continue.


DR. HARRIS:  Number three:  we see several of these patients relapsing.  One thing we could do would be to have a Lyme bill mandating patient coverage for treatment.  The insurance debacle comprises most of my paperwork and daily frustrations, and I don’t even take insurance.  This is just composing letters of appeal in prior authorizations for medications.  


The end-game for these patients is to become another disability statistic, to become a drain on family and state resources, and to lose control over their bodies and cognitive abilities.  We should implement all of the above and support early detection.  I think that’s crucial.


California can once again lead the nation in healing the sick and save money.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony because it really is, again, a reminder and reiteration of what I have heard anecdotally.  Moving through and maneuvering through the treatment maze is just, in and of itself, overwhelming for a lot of these individuals who are diagnosed or not diagnosed, never mind the cost out of pocket and the scrutiny and the skepticism and the manner in which the medical community has treated a lot of these individuals and then HMOs as well.  So, if there’s, again, some policy areas that we can cover—and I would look forward, if you wouldn’t mind sharing, to receiving the CMA statements, or whatever source that has suggested.  That warrants a clarification from them in this committee.


Senator Chesbro, Senator Kuehl, any questions for this witness?


Thank you.  I appreciate what you do and who you’re serving because you’re absolutely right.  I mean, we have a problem with access to healthcare in general, but particularly individuals who don’t have a lot of resources and maneuvering this, it’s. . . . even resourceful people get overwhelmed.  Thank you for your practice.


I think Dr. Blumberg is the last speaker in this panel.  Welcome.  You’re often before this committee, so it’s good to see you here again.


DR. DEAN A. BLUMBERG:  Thank you.


Senator Ortiz and committee members, thank you for inviting me to testify at this hearing.  My name is Dr. Dean Blumberg, and I’m associate professor of Pediatric Infectious Diseases at UC Davis Medical Center here in Sacramento.


As part of my practice, I see referrals of patients for possible Lyme disease.  I see them as inpatients, I see them as outpatients, and I’d like to mention from the beginning that I have seen patients referred for Lyme disease who I did not think had Lyme disease, and I have seen patients referred for Lyme disease who I did diagnose Lyme disease and treated with antibiotics.  And Dr. Starr would be pleased to know that I reported patients as well to the state.


First of all, I’d just like to say I agree with Dr. Stricker, that I think testing is really problematic related to Lyme disease, and that has created a lot of confusion related to diagnosis.  I think some of the solutions that have been discussed about mandatory reporting from laboratories, I think that might be problematic, and we could discuss that later if you’d like.  But some of the tests don’t lend themselves to just laboratory reporting; whereas, the clinician really needs to make the diagnosis, as some of the other speakers have mentioned.  Many times it’s a clinical diagnosis, not a laboratory diagnosis, for Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, you should feel free either later in your presentation or if we raise questions to elaborate a bit more on that point or follow up with some written comments and maybe we can wade through those.  I mean, I welcome discussion and controversy about these recommendations, and out of that, we should, in fact, come up with informed decisions.  So, feel free to weigh in either now or later.


DR. BLUMBERG:  Well, I could just mention it right now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please do.


DR. BLUMBERG:  Some of the tests for Lyme disease—the antibody test—they can remain positive for a long period of time.  Sometimes, as it’s been mentioned, there are false positives as well as false negatives.  So, mandating laboratory reporting for Lyme disease, what may occur and what I’m concerned that might happen is that you would get patients with false positives who did not have Lyme disease, who did not have a clinical diagnosis of Lyme disease in the best estimate of their physician, and yet, the laboratory may be reporting this to the state as a case.  In addition, you might get patients who have laboratory tests who are negative for Lyme disease . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That are false negatives.


DR. BLUMBERG:  False negatives, and a clinician actually diagnoses them with Lyme disease, and so, those wouldn’t be reported to the state.  So, I would defer to the clinician, to their healthcare provider, to make the best judgment with that effort.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think Dr. Stricker’s comments were. . . . he clarified that going from, I think, 700 to 12,000, even if you included false positives and false negatives, probably was more accurate.  I don’t know that 90 percent were false positives.  And even if you had 20 percent that were false negatives, at least you got to a truer estimation than the 700.  There’s always a risk with any diagnostic tool with false positives and false negatives.  However, if you’re the person that missed that diagnosis or got the false positive and later on found out they didn’t have it or got the false negative and continued to be treated, it still is one more chance of being diagnosed.


So, I appreciate that.  There’s always a debate about false positives and false negatives.  Until we have a more accurate diagnostic tool, I think people would rather take the risk of the false positives and then wade through that.


I know—you were at the beginning of your presentation.


DR. STRICKER:  Should we comment?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll let you comment after he does his presentation.


DR. BLUMBERG:  Some patients clearly have persistence of fatigue, achiness, arthrologies, as well as alterations in mood and memory disorders, and this can occur after Lyme disease.  It can occur after mononucleosis and other illnesses.  And traditional medicine has failed these patients.  We’ve heard that here today.  Standard diagnosis and treatment recommendations have not helped them, and the cause of these persistent symptoms, in my opinion, is not known.  For these patients, established laboratory evidence does not indicate that persisting symptoms are due to active infection with the causative agent of Lyme disease.  And persistence of symptoms after treatment does not indicate microbial persistence of the organism.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What might it suggest?


DR. BLUMBERG:  Well, persistence of symptoms can occur due to several causes.  There can be post-infectious symptoms that may not be due to actual continuing replication of the organism.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But maybe a secondary organism?


DR. BLUMBERG:  It’s hard for me to speculate since the cause is not known, in my opinion.  It’s possible that it might be an immunologic reaction that is triggered by the infectious disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Continue.


DR. BLUMBERG:  And so, I think, in addition, there has been, in my opinion, no credible published scientific evidence that prolonged oral or intravenous administration of antibiotics is effective for these post-infectious conditions.  No measurable benefits to patients treated in this manner have been demonstrated.  In fact, this treatment may hurt patients.  In my practice I’ve seen patients harmed by prolonged antibiotic therapy that was not beneficial for the patient.  Children that I have seen have undergone surgical procedures in order to provide long-term intravenous access for antibiotic therapy.  And these central lines occasionally become infected with skin bacteria, staph infections, strep infections.  These bacteria can then cause sepsis, commonly known as blood poisoning, and these patients may die.  There are also less severe side effects from these unproven therapies, and these may include inflammation of the gallbladder, also known as cholecystitis, which often requires surgery.  Allergic reactions to antibiotics may occur, and these can be life-threatening.  And severe intestinal inflammation—colitis—may result from antibiotic exposure.


In addition, Health Committee members may recall the 2002 Assembly Health Committee hearings:  “A World Without Antibiotics?  The Impact of Antibiotic Resistance.”  This regarded the dangers of inappropriate antibiotic use.  The Alliance Working for Antibiotic Resistance Education (also known as AWARE) participated in these hearings.  I work with AWARE, and I support their goals to increase the appropriate use of antibiotics and decrease the unnecessary use of antibiotics.  Antibiotics are lifesaving medications, but they will no longer be effective in the future if they are overused.


If patients and their healthcare providers would like to pursue alternative therapies, then definitely this should be respected.  Any plan agreed upon between the physician and the patient should not depend upon a third party.  However, I’m uncomfortable asking insurance companies in this state. . . . to expect them to pay for tests or therapies that are without scientific support.  For those patients and physicians who feel that these experimental diagnostic tests and alternative therapies are useful, I would encourage them to perform the appropriate studies.


Until such studies are completed, prolonged intravenous antibiotic therapy for patients with presumed Lyme disease should not be used, in my opinion.  These patients have real needs and real concerns, and I think further well-designed and scientific investigation is the most appropriate next step.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Senator Chesbro.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I’d like to ask you and any of the other physicians about the question of—preventative is not quite the right word—but if there’s suspicion of the possibility of Lyme disease what the relative tradeoffs, in your estimation, are to prescribing a course of antibiotics. 


I realize that there’s downsides to the overuse of antibiotics, some of which are more controversial than others—some have been in the papers recently—and I think much less controversial the issue of simply overuse and resistant organisms that can proliferate because of the overuse.  But all that being weighed into the equation, does it make sense, if there’s some suspicion that it might exist but it’s not positively diagnosed early enough on, to have a sort of standard low-level course of antibiotics as a preventative matter?


DR. BLUMBERG:  Most of the studies that have been done in that regard show that, in general, antibiotics would not be indicated after a tick bite because not all ticks carry the causative agent of Lyme disease, because even ticks that carry the causative agent, there’s not a hundred percent transmission; and even when there is transmission and infection, not all patients have symptoms of Lyme disease.  And so, most studies suggest that the risk of antibiotic therapy outweighs the benefits of prophylactic antibodies.  There are a few studies, however, that do suggest that in certain situations and areas with very high prevalence of Lyme disease in the ticks, that prophylactic therapy may outweigh the risks.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Any other responses to that question?


DR. STRICKER:  I think, unfortunately, there’s a Catch-22 with treating patients acutely or prophylactically with antibiotics, and that is that under the current standard of care, the tests for Lyme disease within the first two weeks—two to three weeks—are inaccurate.  Therefore, people don’t do that testing acutely when patients get infected; therefore, they don’t treat right away.  And that’s a huge problem in terms of deciding how to treat patients who have acute infection or how to treat them prophylactically.  


Now, if you do a different type of standard of care with different types of testing, you can overcome that problem because there are tests that are more sensitive and that become positive much earlier, and then you can decide on how to treat prophylactically if you want.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Not to go into too much detail about my conversations with my doctor—and I won’t name him, obviously, here—but I think his thinking was that it was during the time period that it would be most critical that testing wouldn’t be available.  His weighing of the factors was that it was worth what the downsides were—and let me tell you, he’s not big on antibiotics.  I think that he thought that knowing the risks but the potential consequences of missing it were significant enough that it was worth the use of the antibiotics.


DR. HARRIS:  Unfortunately, many physicians don’t feel that way, and they will not treat unless there is incontrovertible evidence that there’s an infection.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  I generally, personally, agree with that as a general matter, but I think that there’s a question in particular instances like this about whether or not the severe consequences of undiagnosed early disease are such that the factors might weigh a little differently.


DR. BLUMBERG:  I think in some situations where the answer is unknown, that the burden is on the provider to explain the risks and benefits of treatment so that the patient and the provider can make the most reasonable conclusion together.  This doesn’t work all of the time, but I think that it is the burden on the provider to do this.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, we had that discussion.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Stricker, I know you wanted to comment on one of the earlier points, but before you ask the question on the record, I have a question for Dr. Blumberg.


What do you say to the individual who has chronic and ongoing symptoms of Lyme disease—and, in fact, at some point in that long period of time has been treated with antibiotics over a long period of time—has tested positive for exposure and continues to have symptoms that are consistent with Lyme disease—neurological, physical, joint, et cetera—and that person then is denied treatment, ongoing treatment, of antibiotics?  


And as you said and suggested, if there are alternative treatments, you would encourage that, and you called for the scientific and peer-reviewed evidence that those are effective alternative treatments, but their HMO doesn’t cover it.  You have suggested that they not continue ongoing treatment with antibiotics over a period of time that have not proven to be effective, and you suggested that they pursue alternative treatments, but we’ve acknowledged that they’re not covered by their managed care.  We’re calling for the scientific review of that, and that’s great, but it may take twenty years, if we’re lucky.  


What do you say to those people?  I mean, they’ve got a real disease and real suffering, and this is not an academic theoretical discussion.  What do we do?  What do we tell people?


DR. BLUMBERG:  I agree it’s very difficult, and so, what needs to be done, I think a plan needs to be arrived at between the clinician and the patient.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But if you’re the clinician, you’re not going to recommend they continue antibiotic treatment.  What are the alternatives?


DR. BLUMBERG:  Well, if I am recommending to a patient an alternative therapy that is nonstandard, that’s not scientifically proven, then I believe that it is incumbent upon me as the healthcare provider to be the advocate for the patient to try to make sure that they can get the treatment that they need.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I assume you have played that role and I trust that you have, but based on the constituent complaints I get regarding dealing with managed care—and I think we probably should have had somebody from the Department of Managed Care here to ask what their standard protocol is in those cases in which you serve as an advocate for a patient.  What happens when they’re denied coverage?  I mean, people are going broke with this disease, looking for hope—like a lot of diseases—but what do you do then?


DR. BLUMBERG:  I think it’s very difficult.  I think it’s very difficult.  You know, I have the benefits of being at a university medical center and working with a team, and so, I have the benefits of having a nurse, a nurse practitioner, as well as I’m working with a social worker, and oftentimes I do rely heavily on a social worker to try to facilitate some of the treatment issues.  But I get this too that No, the patient can’t have outpatient therapy; this is only an inpatient disease.  Do I want to admit a patient to the hospital when they would be better off at home?  No, I don’t want to do that, but I do feel that if I am recommending something that is not generally recognized as standard therapy, then those are the hoops that I’m just going to have to jump through.  And if I can’t make a case that’s convincing to the powers that be, then I’ve failed.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I think the system has failed these individuals, and I’m just trying to find a way to get people past that obstacle, and I’m looking for advice.  I trust that you’re that advocate.  I mean, I just know of people who’ve spent four or five or six years on antibiotics and there’s no improvement in the quality of their lives, and their families’ lives have been devastated.  It’s troubling.  I want some answers from you guys.  I’m just raising questions, so thank you.


Dr. Stricker, I know you wanted to weigh in on some earlier part of the presentation.


DR. STRICKER:  Well, I think there are three areas in Dr. Blumberg’s testimony that are problematic for me.  The first is doctor reporting of Lyme disease.  I congratulate him for reporting cases.  However, in the real world of Lyme disease, this event occurs very rarely.  Physicians in private practice very often don’t have the time to file a report when they see a patient with Lyme disease.  Often, they may see a patient who’s had chronic disease and who doesn’t have the typical rash and who would not be a candidate for the type of reporting that we have, and that’s why I think that laboratory reporting, as much as there may be problems with it, is a much better system and has been shown to be a better system in other states.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Even given the realm of false positives?


DR. STRICKER:  Even given the realm of false positives.  Now, false positives for Lyme disease often occur in patients who have some other disease that’s diagnosable.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Babesiosis or any of those other . . . 


DR. STRICKER:  No, no.  Systemic lupus or some other type of disease that the patient can be diagnosed for.  I see patients who come to me with million-dollar work-ups for those diseases which have been ruled out.  So, I don’t think that the problem of false positive reporting is as big a problem as the false negative reporting, and even with that, I think that reporting by the laboratory will be more consistent and more reliable than reporting by the physicians.


The other issue is the idea of persistent infection.  I just want to set the record straight.  There are animal models of chronic Lyme disease in mice, in dogs, in monkeys where you can find persistent infection in these animals.  There are also reports from the literature in humans of persistent and recurrent and relapsing Lyme disease.  So, I think it’s inaccurate to say that there’s no evidence of chronic Lyme disease—chronic infection in Lyme disease.


The third issue is the issue of antibiotic treatment.  You’ve heard from Dr. Harris.  Again, in the real world of Lyme disease, you’ve heard from patients that once they get treated with antibiotics, they do get better, and this is what we see day in and day out.  And what we also see day in and day out is patients who’ve gone to large medical centers and been told, Oh, there’s no evidence that chronic antibiotic therapy or prolonged antibiotic therapy does anything.  So, I think we do have this conflict.  I would hope that the ILADS’ guidelines would help to sort out that conflict and make antibiotic therapy more acceptable to everyone—to the medical community and to insurance companies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to throw a zinger out for all of you.  What about this vaccine for Lyme disease that was withdrawn from the market in February of 2002 allegedly for low sales?  Anybody want to weigh in?  Do you know anything about this particular vaccine?


DR. STRICKER:  The GlaxoSmithKline vaccine, LYMErix, was withdrawn from the market ostensibly for poor sales.  However, there is a class action lawsuit that involves over 300 patients against the manufacturer of that vaccine because these patients developed something that looked like Lyme disease after receiving the vaccine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Did they get an active vaccine or something?


DR. STRICKER:  No.  It’s a sub-unit vaccine, so it’s a protein vaccine.  However, it is a protein that’s a major portion of the Lyme spirochete, and these people, for whatever reason, developed a syndrome that looks like Lyme disease, and they are now suing the manufacturer, and that’s the more likely reason why the vaccine was withdrawn.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Interesting.  But was it proving . . . 


DR. STRICKER:  Well, that suit is sort of winding through the courts.  It’s still pending.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is there any other kind of vaccine that’s out there in the world that you know of—in other countries?


DR. STRICKER:  Well, there’s the vaccine for dogs that actually works extremely well, and I would urge dog owners to get their dogs vaccinated if they can find a veterinarian who will do it.  But in terms of a human vaccine, I don’t think there’s anything, really, on the horizon, and unfortunately, one of the reasons for that is the bad experience with LYMErix.  I think vaccine manufacturers are going to be gun-shy about pushing another vaccine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Appreciate that.  


All right.  Unless there are other questions of these speakers?


Dr. Starr, you’ve been so patient, but I guess nobody has questions for you beyond this.  Do you want to add something?


DR. STARR:  One thing in this discussion that I might be able to help clarify a little bit is how laboratory reporting works and how we use it in public health to augment surveillance and reporting.  


I mentioned earlier that out of the eighty-or-so diseases that are required to be reported by providers, there’s about twenty-five of those that, also, we require laboratories to report.  They report them to the local health department just like a provider would.


The purpose of lab reporting is, really, to supplement our provider-based reporting and to try and capture more information and improve provider reporting.  If a local health department receives a lab report, say, for chlamydia, which is lab-reportable, and doesn’t have a provider report for that case, they’ll contact the provider and say, What’s the findings here?  Do you think this is a case?  It’s not automatically, based on a single lab result that’s reported, considered a case at that point.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, lab reporting actually undergoes a checks and balances regarding false positives and false negatives through a clinician?  A reported case?


DR. STARR:  Well, the clinician normally would get that result, and if they were doing what they should be doing, they’d be reporting it to public health.  And if the county has that report, they’ll just match the lab report up with the clinician report and then put them together as a case report.  But if they don’t have the one from the clinician, they’ll contact them and do an investigation to see if it really should have been and encourage them to report the case.  In the end, there’s a single case report, whether it came first from a provider or first from the lab, and there’s some investigation and evaluation involved in that.  It’s not automatic that any positive result will end up resulting in a case report.  The regulations require any lab result suggestive of the disease that’s on the list for lab reporting has to be reported by the lab, and then there’s evaluation that goes on after that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, there is a mechanism to check for false negatives and false positives through that system.


DR. STARR:  Right.  And to verify any of the other pieces of information that are needed.  In the case of a Lyme diagnosis, there’d be the history of the patient, both exposure history as well as clinical history.  It’s really still up to the judgment of the clinician for the clinical diagnosis, and all that information would go to public health to see if it meets the surveillance definition I talked about as far as us being able to compare over time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And right now, for the most part, they’re mostly STDs and, what? TB that are mandatory reportable.


DR. STARR:  Well, there’s a whole wide variety, and it’s on the back of that morbidity report form—the 86 diseases.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, why not add just one more, huh?


DR. STARR:  Well, Lyme disease is reportable by the provider.  We’ve heard, certainly, about that.  Actually, the Lyme Disease Advisory Committee, the department—Lyme disease testing has evolved enough that we think that it would be useful to add Lyme disease to the lab reporting list.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, does the department have a position on the bill by, I think, Assemblymember Negrete McCloud?


No comment.


DR. STARR:  The department doesn’t have a position yet.  That bill, as you know, has gone through the Assembly and will be coming here next, I believe.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I believe it’s next to be heard in this committee.  What date?  It’ll be heard in this committee, if any of you want to come back and comment on it.  I think at this point it’s consent.  I don’t know if it stays consent.  That’s a good sign if it’s a proposed consent, but that can always be pulled, unless we work it out.


DR. STARR:  Not every disease is useful to have lab reporting, and one of our reportable diseases is Kawasaki Syndrome, and there is no good lab test.  I’m just picking that out as an example.  But that’s why there’s only twenty-five or so that are lab-reportable.  It’s when it’s useful.  And Lyme disease, as far as on its merits as lab reporting, we think it would be useful to use that surveillance tool to find out about cases.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, there’s fairly consistent recommendations among the physicians here, with the exception of Dr. Blumberg—which we respect differences of opinion regarding lab reporting as an accurate means of increasing . . . 


DR. BLUMBERG:  I changed my position.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You changed your mind?  Oh, good; we’re unanimous.


DR. BLUMBERG:  I just wanted to hear from Dr. Starr.  No, as long as it’s screened through a clinician, I think that makes a lot of sense to me.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Well, we have unanimity.  Let’s see if we can get the administration to support it—because I understand there’s not a lot of cost impact, so hopefully.  Which is a good thing this year.  


Let me thank you all for your testimony before this committee.


We have one final witness, and this is the final panel, “Links Between Testing and Reporting From the Laboratory Perspective”:  Jyotsna Shah, Ph.D.


Well, you can correctly introduce yourself to this committee and provide us for the record your background.  Thank you for being patient.  It’s been a long hearing.


Welcome.


DR. JYOTSNA SHAH:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, for inviting me—and the committee—for providing my testimony on “Links Between Testing and Reporting From the Laboratory Perspective.”


I work for IGeneX Reference Laboratory.  We specialize in tick-borne disease diagnosis of tick-borne diseases, especially Lyme disease.  The other tick-borne diseases that we look at are babesiosis, ehrlichiosis, and bartonella.  Bartonella is a new addition to the tick-borne diseases.  The first case was reported in New Jersey in 2000.  It was very similar:  it had neurological symptoms.  And since then several cases have been associated with ticks.


Today we heard quite a bit about the importance of diagnosing Lyme correctly.  As was pointed out, it is still a clinical diagnosis.  Laboratory testing just aids the clinician in making a decision.  Laboratory testing is not by itself considered adequate to make a diagnosis.


For Lyme testing—there are two ways of looking at any disease, for that matter.  You can look at it by indirect testing or direct testing methods.  What do we mean by “indirect testing”?  Detection of patients’ immune response to an infectious agent.  That’s one way of looking at a disease.  And the tests that the lab would perform to look at an immune response are serological tests, then we go to more advanced testing such as Western blotting or immunofluorescences.  These are the common tests which are performed to look at immune response to a pathogen.  Direct testing—this, for Lyme disease, is still not an accepted diagnostic method, unlike other testing, as I’ll show you later on in the talk.  By direct testing, we look at a patient’s sample to look for the infectious agent which is causing the disease symptoms in the patient.  What do we look for in this case?  We look for proteins (antigens), or we look for nucleic acid (DNA or RNA).  


So, these are the two ways off looking at a disease:  immune response by the patient or the cause that this patient is having certain types of symptoms.


Now, with Lyme disease, what’s very interesting is that the symptoms of Lyme disease can be often mistaken, as it’s been pointed out of panels before me, for other diseases like lupus.  You can have a fever; some of the common symptoms.  MS, for example.  So, this is where the laboratory really helps in making a true diagnosis—by getting the test done to support the clinical diagnosis.


As was pointed out by the first speaker, the Lyme disease case classification by CDC is for surveillance, not for clinical diagnosis.  It’s a good way when you want to compare statistics from state to state to determine the prevalence of the disease.  But for diagnosis of the disease, for patients it really is not the right way to go about it.  


The reason that the two-tiered test is not reliable, number one:  the serological tests, which are currently available on the market, the sensitivity of those tests is much lower than Western blots.  Probably about 60 percent of the cases would be detected by the serology test, which is supposed to be a screening method.  A new test came on the market recently referred to as C6 peptide.  We did a comparison using 27 patients, and of these, there were 19 patients which were CDC positive by Western blots.  Only 14 were positive by the C6 ELISA test.  What does it tell us?  If we go with serology alone as a screening method, we are going to miss about 40 percent. . . . or 30 percent of the patients who are, in reality, true patients.  


So, there are problems with the criteria that CDC has set, and unfortunately, these are the guidelines which are used by the HMOs.  And that is where the big flaw is:  that HMOs are going by the CDC criteria which is for prevalence and not for diagnosis, and therefore, patients are suffering.


Now, going  back to CDC, the criteria for the Western blot, which is the second test after the screening test is done, if any sample is positive by serology, one can confirm it by Western blot.  Now, CDC’s criteria is that there should be a response to five proteins out of a list of ten.  Unfortunately, it’s a very stringent way of calling a patient positive.  Therefore, we at IGeneX have developed our own criteria based on clinical studies performed by several different groups for IgM.  


Let me just back off a little bit.  What do I mean by IgM and IgG?  IgM response is the first response that a patient will have once he or she is exposed to the Lyme bacteria.  Unlike most diseases, after about a month, IgG comes up and is present for a long time.  Unlike most diseases, in Lyme patients, in chronic Lyme patients especially, we find that IgM levels remain very high—probably for several years.  So, that’s one of the unusual features of Lyme disease:  that IgM levels you could find five years down from the first bite probably, the patient still will have high levels, and that’s a very good marker for diagnosis of chronic Lyme.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask for clarification.  So, that test, the IgM test, is it regarded as a diagnostic test?


DR. SHAH:  We regard it as a diagnostic test.  In terms of CDC, it’s considered diagnostic in the early stages, in the first four weeks after the bite of a tick, but there are publications out now showing that IgM levels can remain high in chronic Lyme.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it’s actually accurate for chronic and late-stage . . .


DR. SHAH:  Yes.  Late Lyme.  And that is what we are finding when we look at patient populations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And will doctors acknowledge that—or clinicians and healthcare providers acknowledge that as a diagnosis of Lyme?


DR. SHAH:  Yes, they do now.  


What we found was that if we had two of the five bands (23, 31, 34, 39, 41, or 95), we qualified it as a positive sample.  For IgM, CDC requires three bands, and, according to all criteria, we require two bands.  Now, the difference between CDC and our criteria is they do not consider 31 and 34 to be important markers for Lyme disease.  What we have found is that these are really important markers for Lyme disease.  And a good example would be what Dr. Stricker just pointed out:  that patients who were immunized with LYMErix vaccine were really immunized with Osp A—the 31 kilodalton protein—and they had Lyme-like symptoms.  Doesn’t that show us that that is an important marker?  CDC doesn’t consider them to be important, but we do report those bands out.  Especially in late Lyme, we are finding that 31 and 34 for IgG and IgM happen to be important markers.  And we have validated some of these data where we have patients who are positive by IgM or IgG with 31 or 34 by PCR.


Now, just to provide some information on how we decided that we were going to use two bands rather than five bands for calling a sample positive, there were studies done by Bakker, et al. in 1997.  They looked at the ELISA test.  They used kept[?] samples so that everybody was using the same samples, and they found that by taking the two-tiered approach, they missed several well-characterized positive samples clearly showing that the CDC criteria wasn’t perfect.  It was too stringent; that patients were missed out.


Again, another study was done by Engstrom in 1995.  Here they took 55 patients with EM rash; that these were well-defined patients, Lyme-positive patients.  They found that 20 percent of the patients were seronegative.  What does it tell us about looking at serological tests which CDC uses?  We are going to miss some patients just because we are not doing other testing.  And also, what they found is that if they scored two of the five bands, then they were diagnosing the rest of the 80 percent.  Secondly, in the control group, they had the specificities of 93 to 94 percent.


I’m going to skip the next one.


Now, for other tests, CDC allows us to use PCR as a diagnostic tool.  For example, chlamydia, gonorrhea, and even for viruses, but for Lyme?  Why not?  What is the difference between Lyme and other diseases?  It’s an infectious agent, causing the disease Borrelia burgdorferi.  So, why can’t we use PCR?  We use PCR.  We consider PCR to be an important tool here.


For the year 2003, just to give you an idea, we had tested 698 patients suspected of Lyme disease.  Three hundred and ninety-four were positive by either Western blot or antigen test or PCR.  If we had gone by the CDC criteria only, we would have missed 70 percent of this 394 cases.  


So, in reality, what I’m trying to say is that we need to keep our minds open and look at newer testings like PCR and look at new ways to diagnose disease.  PCR/antigen tests seem to be more useful.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.  It’s very technical in nature, and I’m going to ask my colleague here whether he’s got any questions.  


I think what you’re saying is there are a number of tests that can be used, and none of them are perfect, and how do we get policymakers and providers of healthcare and reporters to use as many as possible to get as accurate a . . .


DR. SHAH:  Absolutely.  A panel approach is what I would recommend because what we are finding, as I pointed out, 20 to 30 percent of the patients will never make antibodies; so, if you go by Western blot, you’re going to miss them.  We would recommend that you do a PCR because you’re looking at a different marker—a DNA marker.  If that doesn’t work, then you go for more sophisticated testing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, Western blot, PCR, and then, how many after?


DR. SHAH:  After that our recommendation is. . . . Western blot is done on serum.  We recommend whole blood for PCR.  That’s your first-year testing.  If nothing comes up positive—because Borrelia like to hide in the bladder.  So, we recommend a Lyme urine antigen test after an antibiotic challenge, and usually we find that that test would be positive either by PCR or by Lyme urine antigen test.  That’s our panel for Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, is that on all the informational brochures?  I mean, how do you convey a simple message if you want to increase public awareness of what test a person should get should they suspect they might have been exposed?


DR. SHAH:  That’s something we’ve been thinking about writing up in a little . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Readily understood?


DR. SHAH:  Yes.  Like just a flow chart—because this is something a lot of physicians have been calling and asking.  They say, What do we do?  Which testing do we do?  And our recommendation would be Western blot.  Why a Western blot?  Because it shows you if the patient was exposed to Lyme disease at some stage in his or her life.  That’s just an exposure.  But if you have a direct test and it shows that the pathogen is in your body, that would be a really good marker.  So, this is why we recommend whole blood PCR plus a Western blot first, and then, if that doesn’t give you clear answers, go to the Lyme urine antigen test and a PCR.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your presentation and trying to wade through the confusion of this, even diagnosing this disease.


Normally, we would wrap up the hearing—and I want to thank all of the speakers—but I do want to allow an opportunity briefly for public comment.  I know that there are persons in the audience who may want to be on the record and provide more insight to the committee.  This is your opportunity to do so.  If you need help navigating the area here, our sergeants are here ready to respond and certainly my staff if they’re nearby.


So, if there’s anyone who wants to come forward and provide testimony to the committee, this is your chance to do so.


Thank you.


MS. PHYLLIS MERVINE:  Thank you for having this hearing.  


I’m Phyllis Mervine, and I’m the president of the California Lyme Disease Association.  I’m sorry Senator Chesbro had to leave because I’m from Mendocino County.  


When I was diagnosed in ’87, I had been sick for ten years.  I didn’t have health insurance, so I didn’t go to a bunch of doctors.  But I was very ill by the time I was diagnosed.  Subsequently, researchers, including Bob Lane from University of California at Berkeley, had come to my community and done extensive studies much like the Diamond A studies.  We got the community together for blood tests and everything, and the results have been published in many journals over the years.  They’re still coming up there and dragging for ticks and trapping mice and combing the ticks off of them and testing them.


My community—they found that 24 percent of the people who lived in the community were seropositive (they had positive tests), and 34 percent had definite or probable Lyme disease.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh my goodness.


MS. MERVINE:  The results were greeted with some skepticism, and they followed up by doing the tick analyses.  During this time, of course, DHS was promoting the view that Lyme is rare because only 1 or 2 percent of the ticks are infected.  Well, in the early years, all the attention was given to the adult ticks, and only later did they discover that the nymphal ticks are probably what are responsible for most cases of human disease.  In my neighborhood, an average of 12 percent of the nymphal ticks are infected, and the range is 4 to 41 percent.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for coming up.  Is that a teal ribbon you’ve got there?


MS. MERVINE:  Green.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is that for Lyme disease?


MS. MERVINE:  A lime ribbon, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for being here.  I appreciate it.


Others who want to come forward, please feel free to line up.  It takes a while, I know, for some to come forward.  If you could just line up on the rail, then we can get you all on the record before we wrap up here.


Welcome.


MS. LORRAINE JOHNSON:  Hello.  My name is Lorraine Johnson.  I want to thank you for holding these hearings.  I really appreciate it.


I was diagnosed with Lyme disease just about two years ago, but I had been misdiagnosed for eight years.  For eight years I was told that I had depression, and as each drug that they tried me on failed, I would say, Shouldn’t we be doing any tests?  Shouldn’t we be looking to see if there’s any infective process going on here?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  What county are you from?


MS. JOHNSON:  I’m from Los Angeles.  


There were no tests that were done, and I was constantly reassured that there was nothing wrong.  By the time I was diagnosed, I went in and got a SPECT scan done, which is where they look at the blood flow to the brain, and I had very diminished blood flow to the brain.


So, here it was for eight years I walked around believing that I was suffering from depression when what I was suffering from was the lights going out; I mean literally—not having the circulation and the blood going to the brain.


The other point I wanted to raise is I think that the science in the area of Lyme disease is uncertain.  There are a lot of things we don’t know yet.  There are research studies that have yet to be done.  We probably won’t know all we need to know about Lyme disease for another ten, twenty years.  During that period of time, the question becomes:  What do we do with patients who are ill?


The way that we have treated patients traditionally in medicine is that the doctors have looked at the patients and decided what they thought would be the best course of practice and tried that out.  If it was effective with the patients, then they proceeded.  If it wasn’t effective, they would not use that course of treatment.


So, the point that I would make is that when there are two different courses of treatment, typically what’s done is the treatment choice goes back to the patient, and that’s the sort of thing that we’re interested in.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  A lot of the same themes articulated in different ways, but I appreciate the reminder.


We’ve got at least eight or so speakers, and I’m going to ask all of you to try to come forward.  Feel free to come forward and identify yourself and help us wade through this.


Welcome.


MR. KENT REEVES:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.  I want to thank you and the committee for having this.


My name is Kent Reeves.  I’m a wildlife biologist.  I’ve had experience throughout California.  I’ve done research on mountain lions, black bear—a variety of species.  I’ve worked in the Southeast doing research with alligators, the Florida panther, things like that.  Quite frankly, after my experience with Lyme disease, the most dangerous animal out there is the Western black-legged tick, as far as I’m concerned.


Some of the issues that I think are critical to address for the State of California are, number one, education.  That is critical for not only physicians but for medical school students.  I think that, unfortunately, you can’t teach an old dog new tricks, and sometimes that applies to older doctors.  They’re set in their ways, and my experience with doctors so far, through our experience with Lyme disease, is that they’re unwilling to listen to you even if you have more knowledge about the disease.  Unfortunately, that MD precludes some of them from opening their minds.  So, I think extensive education is critical as well as education of employers.


“Wildlife biology is an at-risk profession.”  That’s not my statement; that’s OSHA.  They’ve come out and said that people who work out in the field are in an at-risk profession, and I think that education is critical.  Unfortunately, what we’ve seen with employers, both my own as well as my spouse’s—she also is a wildlife biologist.  Even though her company had two employees who contracted Lyme disease, they still have no education program in place and, in fact, have refused to put an education program in place.  This is a private consulting company that does extensive work in the field.  So, I think that education is going to be critical out there.


And then, one final thing is that speaking on behalf of Heidi Wehmeyer, my spouse, is that once you survive the ignorant doctors, then, unfortunately, you face a whole host of problems within the health insurance system.  For example, Medicare.  Although Medicare is a secondary for her, they have refused to pay for any outside help separate from what has been authorized by our HMO.  There’s no way we would go back to the doctors that are covered under our HMO as far as treatment.  


Long-term disability insurance—the issues around that—and the dropping of patients with Lyme disease, because oftentimes, if you have false positive. . . . excuse me, false negatives, they are more than willing to drop patients, and oftentimes the last recourse you have is simply litigation.


Worker’s comp issues—recently, there was a bill that provided for outdoor workers like myself with coverage for worker’s comp if they’ve been in the field for several years, but that’s only if you’re a state employee.  Perhaps coverage of outdoor workers throughout the professions in which there’s potential for being exposed to Lyme disease is another issue of that.


And then, on top of all of this is having to deal with this compound stress.  Unfortunately, one of the key things that aggravates the symptoms of Lyme disease is stress.


So, those are just some thoughts, and those are some of the things with regard to Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I appreciate you putting that on the record.  Unfortunately, we don’t have jurisdiction in this committee on the worker’s comp insurance issues, but I think it’s something I’ll recommend to the chair of the Senate Insurance Committee to see whether there’s an opportunity to possibly either do a joint hearing or just under the auspices of the Insurance Committee to look at some of the disabilities, the worker’s comp issue, in an informational hearing setting.  So, we may call upon you to help and others in the audience if, in fact, we see some trends to elevate the awareness of the Insurance Committee as well to see whether there’s policy opportunities for us.


Thank you, Kent.  Good to see you.  Thanks, Heidi.  Good friends of mine.


Welcome.


MS. SANDY FRIZZELL:  Thank you for allowing some public comment.


My name is Sandy Frizzell, and I’ve been a California State Park employee since 1973, and I just wanted to make some comments for myself and other employees within my department who have Lyme disease.


I was diagnosed in 2001 with Lyme disease.  I’ve been a California State Park ranger and a resource ecologist for my career since I started in ’73.  I’ve been under treatments with antibiotics for the last two years for Lyme disease and literally had to stop my career for about a year when I became extremely ill with Lyme disease.  And I had all the symptoms.


There are three points I want to make.  When I was bit by a tick, there was no education in my department about Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is there today?


MS. FRIZZELL:  There is a small program within my department.  We are disseminating information, and people have become more aware in certain counties about Lyme disease.  The employees are more aware of it, but there is still the problem of diagnosis and being treated in the areas in which they live.


I was bit by the tick—I  knew I was bit by the tick—but I did not develop a rash.  And so, I . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Didn’t go in for treatment.


MS. FRIZZELL:  I didn’t pay any attention to it until I became very ill eight months later, and then I was diagnosed with MS and told that there is no Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There seems to be an MS and ALS sort of . . . 


MS. FRIZZELL:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because it’s neurological and central nervous system.


MS. FRIZZELL:  Correct.  And my symptoms were mainly neurological; very severe neurological symptoms:  memory issues, headaches, seizure-like symptoms.


Fortunately, I was bit on the job, so worker’s comp. . . . I was finally able to receive worker’s comp, and they covered my care.  I went through six neurologists, cardiologists, and physicians before I was able to go to a specialist.  I sent myself to the specialist and paid out of pocket until worker’s comp agreed to cover me because I was bit on the job.


During the time of my treatment, everything has been covered by worker’s comp, but at times, approval has gone through for medications or treatments by mistake through my HMO rather than going through worker’s comp.  And it’s been interesting.  I’ve kept all my letters that have come back from my HMO state coverage.  They’ve literally turned down everything that’s been requested in terms of medication from my Lyme disease specialist.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And who’s the carrier?


MS. FRIZZELL:  That’s Blue Shield.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, but your worker’s comp coverage.


MS. FRIZZELL:  It’s through the state.  I can tell you the name of the company.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Why don’t you chat with my staff afterwards.


MS. FRIZZELL:  And all of the letters have basically said, you know, No evidence of need for long-term care of Lyme disease.

I guess, really, what I want to say is that part of the problem seems to be in regard to what this hearing is addressing:  that not enough physicians in the state know that Lyme disease really does exist.  So, we really need to improve the reporting.  We need numbers.  And being a scientist, I always go on data and facts.  So, I think we need to provide that to the physicians.  We need to provide that to the public.  I’ve been logging them in a book for the last year and a half, but I get two to three calls a month from people within my county—which is Nevada County—regarding the fact that they have had the symptoms or have been diagnosed and the physicians don’t want to treat them for Lyme disease.  So, it’s important.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You should feel free to check with my staff and see if we can help facilitate somebody looking at your worker’s comp issues.


MS. FRIZZELL:  Reporting is the big issue right now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  And let me thank you and feel free to chat with my staff on the side.


Let me ask the remaining speakers, if you could come forward, but try to be brief and concise.  I apologize.  I actually have an appointment that I have to drive to and be at, so I’m going over my time to allow public comment.


Oh, you’re a team.  That’s a good thing.  Welcome.


MR. STEVE SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


We stand before you as a family.  Our daughter, Tiffany, in July 2000 received her tick bite.  We live in Redlands, California, in San Bernardino County.  She received the tick bite at Oakhurst at a summer camp.  We have gone through the same nightmare, and I just thank you so very much for this hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, it’s a body of three or four of us and we’re listening.  Many of them are sitting in their offices and doing other work but watching on the television.  You’re helping us with this, and I appreciate it.


Now, you want to talk, Tiffany, a little bit about what you’ve been going through and where you are in your treatment and all that stuff?  We don’t bite that much.


How long have you been treated with antibiotics and how long has that been?


MR. SMITH:  She has a hard time remembering.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we’ll let dad and mom . . . 


MR. SMITH:  In her ninth grade year of high school, she dropped from a A/B student to Cs, Ds, and finally to Fs, and that’s when we began the diagnosis process.  We were not only told there was no Lyme disease in California, we were told if she had Lyme disease, there were no neurological effects whatsoever, and because she was having neurological effects, it could not be Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Every one of those doctors that have told any one of you any of these things, can I give them a bunch of materials to read?  We’ll send them a gift packet.


MR. SMITH:  We tried to give the doctors material, because after finally being diagnosed with lupus, MS, ALS, and several other things, they finally just said, We’re sorry.  You have psychiatric problems.  Sent us to the psychiatrist.  And at that point, we had done enough research—my wife had done enough research—that we felt like it was Lyme disease.  We ended up going, finally, to our own private physician.  We have never received any help financially.  I just cashed in my retirement.  That’s how we have done it.  Thank God that we had that.  We feel very blessed that Tiffany is on the mend and doing much better, but she can so much go with what we’ve heard from all these other people.  And she has not been in high school since then either, I might add.


MISS TIFFANY SMITH:  I really want something done for this because I’m sure there are a lot of teens out there like me that have had to drop out of high school, and that’s like four years of my life gone.  I just had to sit back and watch everything else go on, and that’s hard.  I’m never going to get those years back.  I’m never going to get all those high school experiences back ever.  So, I really want something to get done on this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we’re hoping, and information’s the first step.  And, of course, in California, we’re trying to wade through a lot of these issues right now.  But your stories are being listened to, and I appreciate you coming up.


Mom?


MRS. CAROL SMITH:  I just want to say that she had babesiosis also, and so, the doctor treated her for that first.  But then, I also want to say that the doctors did tell us that she was crazy and that we needed family counseling and she needed a psychiatrist.  So, we did go to them, just to jump through the hoops, because that’s what they said to do, and they all said, She’s physically sick; she’s mentally fine.  And so, that was quite a frustration for all of us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We do have some guidelines what psychiatrists need to know about Lyme disease.  Should we give this to you?  Hopefully, you have these materials.


MRS. SMITH:  We had all this information for them and they refused to take it.  They said they already knew everything.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have to remind the physicians:  do no harm.


Thank you for your testimony.  I do appreciate it.


And the final speaker?  


Welcome.


DR. MARYLYNN BARKLEY:  I also want to thank you for this hearing.


My name is Marylynn Barkley.  I’m a professor emeritus of Neurobiology, Physiology, and Behavior at UC Davis.


In 1988, unbeknownst to me, I was bitten by, most likely, a nymphal tick.  It took eighteen months to eventually diagnose my Lyme disease.  Before that time, I was completely disabled, on medical leave from the university.  At that time, I was also a medical student, and I was on leave from medical school as well. 


I did undergo an empiric treatment for Lyme disease six months into my illness.  I underwent two weeks of IV penicillin, followed by four weeks of IV ceftriaxone, the drug of choice for Lyme disease.  I remained extremely ill and completely disabled.  Eventually, having consulted several physicians, I was given five independent diagnoses of lymphoma, one diagnosis of something called Potts disease—which is basically tuberculosis of the spine—and it was recommended that I start chemotherapy.


To abbreviate this story, eventually I began to send samples of my own serum because I was in this group that you’ve heard about today:  I was seronegative for the disease.  I did not know I had received a tick bite.  I didn’t develop a rash.  But because I’m a Ph.D. basic scientist, I began to seek help for my own diagnosis.  I did things like have my serum collected, split into alloquats, and sent to research labs, including our own NIH-funded lab in Montana, which has helped us tremendously, that particular group, in establishing some of the initial PCRs for Borrelia burgdorferi detection.  I did test positive in that laboratory as well as two others.


I had to undergo twenty-eight months of IV antibiotic therapy because by the time I began to receive therapy, I was that sick.  During that entire time of antibiotic therapy intravenously, we were trying to get me off of this particular treatment.  It was not possible because I continually relapsed.  Eventually, though, I actually finished medical school with an IV in my arm—an open site—and I infused my antibiotics by putting the cartridge in my lab coat pocket.  Following the success of the antibiotic therapy, I still required intermittent, oral antibiotic therapy for an additional five years.


I am unlike literally hundreds of patients who suffer from chronic or persistent Lyme disease in that I am better.  I do not relapse any longer.  In my case, when I relapsed it was very clear because I had drenching night sweats.  We have actually chronicled. . . . we have a database showing that it took two entire years for my immune system to finally get to a baseline.


So, please do accept that there is an entity called persistent Lyme disease and it is an illness and it is debilitating.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And, in your case, had in the end a positive outcome.


DR. BARKLEY:  A positive outcome because I was fortunate enough to have Lyme disease way back in 1988.  Had I this disease now, given the medical community’s opinion, it would have been extremely unlikely that I could have received appropriate antibiotic therapy, and this is very concerning and needs to be addressed.  


Not all patients are the same.  An individual genotype can determine your response to therapy, and it is individual responses that we need to consider.  We should not look at a disease and consider that there is a treatment of choice for that disease that works for all patients.  That is simply not the case.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, are you saying that there is the ability for someone who has this disease and it’s chronic and persistent and they’ve been on ongoing antibiotics and they haven’t come out the other end the way you have, that there’s a way to, by genotype, assess whether they’re on the right cocktail regimen of antibiotics?


DR. BARKLEY:  Well, actually, there is information specifically dealing with genotypes and Lyme disease, but that has been used to talk about something called persistent Lyme arthritis.  Attempts to identify a specific genotype that confers more susceptibility for the need for chronic antibiotic therapy has not led to any certainties as yet.


I’d like to point out for the record that patients who do have a diagnosis of multiple sclerosis certainly have ongoing treatment for their multiple sclerosis.  Some of the antibiotics that have been used and are contraindicated for long-term use in Lyme disease are the same antibiotics that adolescent children are prescribed for several years for things like facial acne.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  [Inaudible.]


DR. BARKLEY:  Well, for example, it has been literally written about in the medical literature that physicians do harm to Lyme disease patients by giving them long-term therapy with something like doxycycline; yet, in our medical literature, it’s perfectly fine to have a teenager on that class of an antibiotic for two to three years.  And so, we really need to start evaluating just what is going on with respect to decisions that are made as to how to appropriately treat Lyme disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your very valuable testimony.


I think you are the last person.  I’m going to be late for my appointment, but welcome.


MS. JENNY LION:  I really appreciate the opportunity.  I’ll be really brief.


Five years ago my husband got extremely sick.  We saw twelve doctors in three states—California, Minnesota, Wisconsin.  He was diagnosed with everything from an aneurysm to mold allergies.  He was so debilitated that for about eighteen months of the fours years before he got a diagnosis, he couldn’t feed himself, he couldn’t drive; he often couldn’t remember things.  He was in bed 80 percent of the time.  He required pretty much total care for much of that time.


We were, luckily, on the East Coast when he got somewhat worse on vacation and figured it out.  That was about a year ago.  He required a year of IV antibiotics and many oral regimens.  He is still on orals.  He’s much better.  He is driving and working somewhat, but we are $140,000 in debt on credit cards, family things, mortgages.  


He’s been denied coverage by his insurance company who says that the standard of care in California is two weeks of IV antibiotics, which he received.  After five months of IV antibiotics, he tested positive in, let’s see, cerebral spinal fluid, blood, and semen for DNA evidence of Lyme disease.  So, we know that it’s still there.  We know two weeks doesn’t get rid of it.  He’s been told by doctors that he has this amorphous thing called Post-Lyme Syndrome, which Dr. Blumberg—I believe that’s his name—alluded to.  There doesn’t seem to be any real definition of what that is.  We don’t really seem to have a treatment for it of any kind.  And we have active infection and proof of that active infection.  So, that really has been, at least in our case, the rationale for not continuing treatment and for our insurance company denying us.


I wasn’t prepared to speak—I didn’t know you had this—so, I have a whole lot of points, but I think those are the main ones.


Oh, the other thing—the screening test—the ELISA?  He had that done two weeks after he got sick because he was a hiker and he’d gotten a bunch of tick bites.  It was negative.  He has had that test eight times over the last five years.  It has always been negative.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, he’s one of those individuals that will never test . . . 


MS. LION:  Well, he has tested positive on DNA testing, which is proof positive of the organism.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  So, why not just use the DNA as the . . . 


MS. LION:  It’s more expensive.


DR. SHAH:  [Inaudible.]


MS. LION:  That’s the other thing.  Just to confirm Dr. Shah, he has had multiple tests for the DNA.  Many of them were negative for the first five months.  It doesn’t just catch it, but we know it was there.  So, we know that the negative ELISAs, the eight of them, are just missing it.  And to have that as the first-tier screening test seems really criminal or at least negligent.  So, that’s one thing.


We have been denied by HMOs.  We have been denied by disability insurance, by workman’s comp and . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask you to come back when we try to raise these issues in another committee.  Make sure that you keep in touch with my staff because that’s sort of this collateral stuff that is really even more compelling.  If we can get through the science and the medical and the research and the treatment and the diagnostic issues, there’s all of these other issues too.


MS. LION:  Well, I can’t tell you what kinds of ripples it’s created in his family financially, emotionally, and all of those things.


The other thing that I want to say is that our experience has been that the doctors who were willing to treat Steven had been putting themselves at risk because they are prescribing antibiotics over the standard of care, which is two weeks.  So, our doctor on the East Coast who prescribed antibiotics when he was seronegative—put him on IV antibiotics and probably saved his brain—was putting himself at significant risk and is being persecuted by the OPMC in that state for overuse of antibiotics.  There’ve been no patient complaints, but insurance companies are very, very reticent to pay $200 a day for the drugs that Steven was on.  And so, I worry for the doctors in this state as well, as these things become more evident and insurance companies are being forced to pay.  


So, I just want to bring that to your attention because there are very few doctors and we need to support them.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want you to raise those issues, and I want you to make sure that you come back when we raise these in another forum where we can get the staff to work through them and get the insurance representatives.  I mean, again, it’s the will of the chair of the Insurance Committee, or the desire and willingness, and certainly, she’s always been open to doing joint issues.  But I will raise this with Senator Speier and see whether we can explore a lot of these as well.  So, make sure my staff gets your name and number.  But thank you.


MS. LION:  Thanks for your time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you all.  I think that completes the public comment period.


Let me just thank my staff for all of her hard work—Nicole Vazquez.  You guys will get her card, and she’ll be a great resource as we continue in this area.


My best to all of you, and thanks to those of you who are treating and caring for these individuals and these families.  You’ve left us a lot to ponder, and let’s see whether we can come up with some solutions.


With that, the committee hearing is adjourned, but thank you all.
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